CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS INC Form 424B3 August 02, 2004

Table of Contents

Prospectus

Filed Pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) File No. 333-112091

\$86,250,000 (AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT)

3.0% CONVERTIBLE SENIOR NOTES DUE 2023 AND THE COMMON STOCK ISSUABLE UPON THE CONVERSION OF THE NOTES

We issued the notes in a private placement on December 8, 2003. This prospectus will be used by selling securityholders to resell their notes and the common stock issuable upon conversion of their notes. We will not receive any proceeds from this offering.

The notes are issued only in denominations of \$1,000 and integral multiples thereof and mature on December 15, 2023. The notes will be issued only in registered book-entry form. You may convert the notes into shares of our common stock in accordance with the terms and conditions of the notes prior to their maturity or their prior redemption or repurchase by us. The conversion rate is 37.2148 shares of common stock per each \$1,000 principal amount of notes, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. This is equivalent to a conversion price of approximately \$26.87 per share. The notes are initially convertible, in accordance with their terms, into approximately 3,209 shares of common stock as of the date of this prospectus.

We will pay cash interest on the notes on June 15th and December 15th of each year. The first such payment will be made on June 15, 2004. The notes are general unsecured obligations of Concord, ranking equally in right of payment with all our existing and future unsecured senior indebtedness, and senior in right of payment to any of our future subordinated indebtedness. The notes will be effectively subordinated to any of our existing and future secured indebtedness to the extent of the assets securing such indebtedness and to the claims of all creditors of our subsidiaries.

We may redeem for cash all or a portion of the notes at any time on or after December 15, 2008, upon at least 20 days notice, for a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, to but not including the redemption date.

Holders may require us to purchase all or part of their notes for cash at a purchase price of 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest on December 15, 2008, December 15, 2013 and December 15, 2018 and upon the occurrence of a designated event, as described in the section of this prospectus entitled DESCRIPTION OF NOTES.

The notes are eligible to trade on the Nasdaq s screen-based automated trading system known as the Private Offerings, Resale and Trading through Automated Linkages, or PORTAL. Holders who are not listed in the section of the prospectus entitled SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS may continue to use PORTAL to trade the notes. Our common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol CCRD. On July 16, 2004, the last reported closing price of our common stock on the Nasdaq National Market was \$9.40 per share.

The securities offered hereby involve a high degree of risk. See Risk Factors beginning on page 5.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus is July 29, 2004.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SPECIAL CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS SUMMARY OF THE OFFERING AND THE COMPANY RISK FACTORS USE OF PROCEEDS DESCRIPTION OF NOTES DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS CERTAIN ERISA CONSIDERATIONS SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES LEGAL MATTERS EXPERTS WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

Table of Contents

You should rely only on the information contained herein or specifically incorporated by reference in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with information different from that contained in this prospectus. The selling stockholders are offering to sell, and seeking offers to buy, securities only in jurisdictions where offers and sales are permitted. The information contained in this prospectus is accurate only as of the date of this prospectus, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or of any sale of securities.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Special Cautionary Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements	1
Summary of the Offering and the Company	2
Risk Factors	5
Use of Proceeds	20
Description of Notes	20
Description of Capital Stock	50
Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations	53
Certain ERISA Considerations	59
Selling Securityholders	61
Plan of Distribution	63
Commitments and Contingencies	64
Legal Matters	64
Experts	65
Where You Can Find More Information	65

Table of Contents

SPECIAL CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus includes or incorporates by reference forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act). For example, statements in this prospectus regarding our financial position, business strategy and other plans and objectives for future operations, and assumptions and predictions about future product demand, supply, manufacturing, costs, marketing and pricing factors are all forward-looking statements. When we use words like intend , anticipate, believe, estimate, plan, will or expect, and other terms of like import, we are making forward-looking statements. We believe that the assumptions and expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, based on information available to us on the date hereof, but we cannot assure you that these assumptions and expectations will prove to have been correct or that we will take any action that we may presently be planning. We have disclosed certain important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from our current expectations, including:

variations in our quarterly operating results;

integration of acquired products and technologies;

announcements of technological innovations or new products by us or our competitors;

introduction of new products or new pricing policies by us or our competitors;

announcements by us or our competitors of significant customer orders;

acquisitions or strategic alliances by us or others in our industry;

changes in global economic and political conditions;

relationships with strategic partners and other evolving distribution channels;

the hiring or departure of key personnel;

our failure to continue to expand into international markets;

failure to obtain or protect our intellectual property rights;

changes in the software industry cycle;

changes in the market for our products and services;

changes in market valuations of companies within the software industry;

changes in estimates of our performance or recommendations by financial analysts; and

the other risks and uncertainties described in this prospectus under Risk Factors.

You should understand that forward-looking statements made in connection with this offering are necessarily qualified by these factors. We are not undertaking to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement if we obtain new information or upon the occurrence of future events or otherwise.

-1-

Table of Contents

SUMMARY OF THE OFFERING AND THE COMPANY

As used in this prospectus, references to Concord, we, our or us refer solely to Concord Communications, Inc. and not to any of our current or future subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires.

The following summary is qualified in it entirety by the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. You should consider carefully the information set forth in this prospectus under the heading **RISK FACTORS**.

This prospectus is offering an aggregate principal amount of \$86,250,000 of 3.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 and 3,209,776 shares of our common stock issuable on conversion of the notes for sale by certain selling stockholders. The selling stockholders acquired the notes in connection with a private placement on December 8, 2003 and the resultant resale by the initial purchaser of the notes under Rule 144A for the Securities Act.

We are receiving no proceeds from the sale of securities offered for sale hereunder. We have agreed to pay the expenses associated with registering the securities of the selling stockholders. We may suspend the use of this prospectus during certain periods of time described in the section of this prospectus entitled DESCRIPTION OF NOTES if the prospectus would, in our judgment, contain a material misstatement or omission as a result of an event that has occurred and is continuing, and we determine in good faith that the disclosure of this material non-public information would have a material adverse effect on us and our subsidiaries taken as a whole.

Concord is a software company that provides a Business Service Management (BSM) solution to enterprise customers, managed service providers and telecommunication carriers. Our solution, the eHealth® Suite of products, maps information technology (IT) services to business needs, measures the actual end user experience and manages application, system and network infrastructures.

We develop, market and support a family of software products, the eHealth® Suite. Our software solution links IT services to business needs by proactively managing the technology that IT services depend upon and detecting problems before they impact critical business services.

Our software maps IT services to business needs, measures the actual end-user experience, and manages applications, systems, and networks. It does this by collecting data from the underlying infrastructure of network devices, desktop/server systems and applications. This information is stored in a database where it is consolidated and analyzed. Business unit managers and IT personnel use our eHealth® solution to gain a better understanding of the availability or performance of applications and IT services.

High performing applications and technology services are essential for many corporations as these support critical business services. The business dependency on applications and IT services requires corporations to closely measure the impact that IT slowness or downtime has on their applications and ultimately their business, by managing the devices like desktop/server systems, the network infrastructures, as well as the business applications. Our eHealth® Suite helps businesses by providing information that businesses use to keep their applications and IT services highly performing and available. Specific business market segments that we target are enterprises, service providers and telecommunication carriers.

Enterprises use our eHealth® Suite of products to protect their revenue by ensuring that critical applications are available when needed. Our software also allows them to reduce expenses by limiting the need for incremental IT administrators and equipment as their business and IT infrastructures expand. IT personnel can also use our software to plan the future capacity of their IT infrastructure.

Service providers, who provide IT services to enterprises for a fee, use the eHealth® Suite to monitor compliance with service level agreements, maintain the quality of their services and to introduce new services for their business customers.

Telecommunication carriers that provide services like cable, broadband internet and wireless services to residential and commercial businesses rely on the eHealth® Suite to maintain the quality of their services such as network and bandwidth services, web hosting, data center/co-location services or providing internet services.

We market to our customers through our own sales force, sales agents, value-added resellers, distributors, network service providers, telecommunication carriers, and original equipment manufacturers (OEMs). As of March 31, 2004, we had over 3,000 customer accounts operating in and serving a broad variety of industries. No single customer accounted for more than 10% of our revenues as of March 31, 2004.

Table of Contents

We were organized as a Massachusetts corporation in 1980 under the name Concord Data Systems, Inc., and changed our name to Concord Communications, Inc. in 1986. Our principal executive offices are located at 600 Nickerson Road, Marlboro, Massachusetts 01752. Our telephone number is (508) 460-4646. Our web site is www.concord.com. The contents of our website are not part of this prospectus.

Table of Contents

The Offering

The following summary contains basic information about the notes and is not intended to be complete. It does not contain all the information that will be important to a holder of the notes. For a more complete understanding of the notes, please refer to the section of this document entitled "Description of Notes.

Issuer	Concord Communications, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation.
Notes Offered	\$86.25 million aggregate principal amount of 3.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2023.
Maturity Date	December 15, 2023, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed, or converted.
Ranking	The notes are our general unsecured obligations, ranking equally in right of payment with all our existing and future unsecured senior indebtedness, and senior in right of payment to any of our future subordinated indebtedness. The notes are effectively subordinated to any of our existing and future secured indebtedness to the extent of the assets securing such indebtedness and to the claims of all creditors of our subsidiaries.
Interest	The notes bear interest at an annual rate of 3.0% on the principal amount from December 8, 2003 payable semi-annually in arrears in cash on June 15th and December 15th of each year, beginning June 15, 2004, to the holders of record at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the preceding June 1st and December 1st, respectively. Interest will be computed semi-annually on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months.
Conversion Rights	Holders may convert the notes into shares of our common stock at an initial conversion rate of 37.2148 shares of common stock per \$1,000 principal amount of notes (representing a conversion price of approximately \$26.87 per share), subject to adjustment, prior to the close of business on the final maturity date only under the following circumstances:
	(i) during any conversion period, if on each of at least 20 trading days in the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the first trading day of the conversion period, the closing sale price of our common stock exceeded 120% of the conversion price in effect on that 30th trading day of such period, a conversion period will be the period from and including the 30th trading day in a fiscal quarter to, but not including, the 30th trading day (or, if that day is not a trading day, then the next trading day) in the immediately following fiscal quarter; or
	(ii) if we have called those notes for redemption; or
	 (iii) upon the occurrence of the specified corporate transactions discussed under Description of Notes Conversion Rights Conversion Upon Specified Corporate Transactions.
	In lieu of delivery of shares of our common stock, and pursuant to the procedures described below, we may elect to deliver to holders surrendering notes either cash or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock. If we elect to satisfy the entire conversion obligation in cash, we will deliver to the holders cash in an amount equal to the product of: (a) a number equal to (i) the aggregate principal amount of the notes to be converted divided by 1,000 and multiplied by (ii) the conversion rate, and (b) the arithmetic average of the closing sale prices of our common stock during the specified cash settlement averaging period.
Sinking Fund	None.
Optional Redemption	On or after December 15, 2008, upon at least 20 days notice, we may redeem all or a portion of the notes at any time for a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, to but not including the redemption date. See Description of Notes Optional Redemption.

Repurchase at Option of Noteholders	Holders have the right to require us to purchase all or a portion of their notes for cash on December 15, 2008, December 15, 2013 and December 15, 2018 (each, a purchase date). In each case, upon at least two business days prior notice, we will pay a purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest, (including additional amounts), if any, to but not including the purchase date. See Description of Notes Purchase of Notes at a Holder s Option and Risk Factors We may not have the funds necessary to purchase the notes upon a designated event or other purchase date, as required by the indenture governing the notes.	
Designated Event	After the occurrence of a designated event, a holder will have the right to require us to purchase for cash all or any part of the notes at a purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, up to, but not including, the designated event purchase date. See Description of the Notes Purchase of Notes at a Holder's Option Upon a Designated Event and Risk Factors We may not have the funds necessary to purchase the notes upon a designated event or other purchase date, as required by the indenture governing the notes.	
Book-Entry Form	The notes were issued in book-entry form and will be represented by permanent global certificates deposited with, or on behalf of, The Depositary Trust Company, or DTC, and registered in the name of a nominee of DTC. Beneficial interests in any of the notes will be shown on, and transfers will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC or its nominee and any such interest may not be exchanged for certificated securities, except in limited circumstances. See Description of Notes Form, Denomination and Registration.	
Nasdaq Symbol	The trading symbol for our common stock is CCRD.	
-4-		

-4-

Table of Contents

RISK FACTORS

An investment in the notes involves significant risks. You should carefully consider the following risk factors in conjunction with the other information contained and incorporated by reference in this prospectus before purchasing the notes.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our future operating results are uncertain.

Our product functionality has expanded to include both business service management features to penetrate the networks, systems and application performance markets. We have a limited operating history in this expanded market upon which to evaluate our business. These markets are highly competitive and rapidly evolving. Additionally, many of our competitors in these new markets have longer operating histories and greater resources. Our limited operating history, intense competition in the market, and an uncertain economic climate make the accurate prediction of future results of operations difficult or impossible.

In addition to sales of our eHealth® Suite, we will continue to sell netViz® products, which enable customers to visualize business processes and map relationships within the supporting technology infrastructure through data-driven icons. We have a limited operating history in this market, making the accurate prediction of future results of operations difficult or impossible.

Our future operating results must be considered in light of these factors.

Failure to successfully integrate acquisitions may adversely impact our business.

In July 2003, we completed the acquisition of netViz, a developer of software that enables customers to visualize business processes and allows them to map relationships within the supporting technology infrastructure through data-driven icons. The acquisition of netViz provides us the opportunity to integrate the netViz products and our existing products and to continue to market and sell the netViz products as a distinct product set. Additionally, we must integrate the netViz personnel, manage operations and personnel in multiple locations, and retain netViz customers. Our efforts to integrate netViz may not be successful, which could adversely impact our business. Future acquisition targets will likely present integration challenges similar to the challenges encountered in connection with the acquisition of netViz. The netViz acquisition and future acquisitions, if any, therefore may adversely impact our business through:

failure to successfully integrate the acquired products;

failure to successfully integrate personnel and management structures;

failure to retain key customers;

loss of key employees;

failure to effectively control costs associated with the integration;

-5-

Table of Contents

failure to meet expected timelines for product development and commercialization; and

exposure to liabilities of the acquired company that were not known or accurately evaluated by us prior to consummating the acquisition.

Even if our acquisitions are fully and successfully integrated, we may not fully realize all of the expected benefits of such acquisitions, including expected financial results or expected benefits to our product line.

Failure to successfully incorporate new technologies may adversely impact our business.

During the third fiscal quarter of 2003, we completed the acquisition of netViz and entered into a license agreement with Tavve, Inc. (Tavve) to acquire Tavve s technology relating to root cause analysis and discovery of layers 2 and 3 of the network topology. We plan to integrate the netViz technology, the eHealth® Suite technology, and the Tavve technology to enable customers to employ data-driven icons to visualize and take action on the critical relationships between business processes, application services, and network and system infrastructures.

During the fourth fiscal quarter of 2003, we launched an enhanced VoIP solution which is designed to enable customers to manage the voice traffic carried on their IP network. While we believe the incorporation of these technologies into our products will increase our products and services revenue, the markets for these integrated products are at an early stage of development and are evolving, thereby making it difficult to assess:

the size of the market;

the competitive landscape;

the appropriate features and prices for products to address this market;

the optimal distribution and marketing strategy; and

the market that will develop and the impact of large competitors within the market. Failure to successfully market and sell our integrated product may adversely impact our business.

We cannot ensure that our revenues will grow or that we will continue to be profitable.

We have expended considerable resources to the research and development of new technologies and new or improved product features that have enabled us to retain existing customers and penetrate new markets both in the United States and internationally. We cannot ensure that we can continue to generate revenue growth on a quarterly or annual basis, or that we can achieve or sustain any revenue growth in the future.

In an effort to achieve profitability and adequately fund research and development, we continue to work to reduce or maintain our operating expenses as a percentage of total revenues while maintaining necessary funding for company operations. However, competition in the marketplace may require us to increase our operating expenses in the future in order to:

fund higher levels of research and development;

increase our sales and marketing efforts;

develop new distribution channels;

broaden our customer support capabilities; and

-6-

Table of Contents

respond to unforeseeable economic or business circumstances.

To the extent that increases in our operating expenses precede or are not followed by increased revenues, our ability to achieve profitability will be at risk.

Our operating results may fluctuate.

We are likely to experience significant fluctuations in our operating results caused by many factors, including, but not limited to:

changes in the demand for our products by customers or groups of customers;

the timing, composition, and size of orders from our customers, including the tendency for significant bookings to occur in the final two weeks of each fiscal quarter (including the fiscal year end);

difficulties penetrating new markets for our products;

costs associated with the integration of acquired companies and/or new technologies;

our customers spending patterns and budgetary resources for our products;

geopolitical conditions in the world;

the success of our new customer generation activities;

introductions or enhancements of products, or delays in the introductions or enhancements of products, by us or our competitors;

changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors;

changes in the distribution channels through which our products are sold;

our success in anticipating and effectively adapting to developing markets and rapidly changing technologies;

our success in attracting, retaining, and motivating qualified personnel;

the publication of opinions about us and our products, or our competitors and their products, by industry analysts or others;

changes in general economic conditions; and

changes in accounting rules.

Though our service revenues have been increasing as a percentage of total revenues, we do not have a significant ongoing revenue stream that may mitigate quarterly fluctuations in operating results.

Due to all of the foregoing factors, we believe that our quarterly operating results are likely to vary significantly in the future. Therefore, in some future quarter our results of operations may fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors. In such event, the trading price of our common stock will likely suffer.

Table of Contents

We have increased our leverage as a result of the sale of the 3.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2023.

In connection with the sale of the notes, we have incurred \$86.25 million of indebtedness. As a result of this indebtedness, our interest payment obligations have increased. The degree to which we are now leveraged could adversely affect our ability to obtain further financing for working capital, acquisitions or other purposes and could make us more vulnerable to industry downturns and competitive pressures. Our ability to meet our debt service obligations will be dependent upon our future performance, which may be subject to the financial, business and other factors affecting our operations, many of which are beyond our control.

Our debt service obligations may adversely affect our cash flow.

A higher level of indebtedness increases the risk that we may default on our debt obligations. We cannot assure that we will be able to generate sufficient cash flow to pay the interest on our debt or that future working capital, borrowings or equity financing will be available to pay or refinance such debt. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow to pay the interest on our debt, we may have to delay or curtail our research and development programs.

The level of our indebtedness among other things, could:

make it difficult for us to make payments on the notes;

make it difficult for us to obtain any necessary financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements or other purposes;

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we compete; and

make us more vulnerable in the event of a downturn in our business. Our success is dependent upon sales to telecommunication carriers, service providers, and enterprise customers.

We derive and likely will continue to derive a significant portion of our revenues from the sales of our products to telecommunication carriers, service providers, and enterprise customers. In general, we have been negatively affected by the general weakness in capital spending within the aforementioned markets, particularly in the telecommunications industry, making future results difficult to predict. The volume of sales of our products and services to telecommunication carriers, service providers, and enterprise customers may increase at a slower rate than we expect or our sales to these customers may decrease.

The market for business service management software is emerging.

The market for our business service management is in an early stage of development. Targeting this market is central to the development and marketing of our products, but this market is emerging, and it is difficult to assess:

the size of the business service management market;

the appropriate features and prices for products to address this market;

the optimal distribution strategy; and

the market that will develop and the impact of large competitors within the market.

Presently, this market is very competitive and we are in direct competition with larger companies that have substantially greater resources to fund the development of competitive products and the creation and maintenance of direct and indirect sales channels. The rapidly evolving application performance market and the continued presence of larger companies in this market may impact our ability to retain or increase our market share.

Increased royalty costs could adversely impact our business.

Table of Contents

We license from third parties, generally on a non-exclusive basis, certain technologies used in our products, including TavveTM technology and the Oracle® database. The incorporation of third party technology is an important component of our product development and an increase in royalty costs associated with our distribution of third party technologies could adversely impact our business. Additionally, the termination of any such licenses, or the failure of the third-party licensors to adequately maintain or update their products, could require us to implement technology offered by alternative sources, and any required replacement licenses and associated royalties could prove costly and adversely impact our business.

The market for application availability and performance management software is emerging.

The market for our application availability and performance products is in an early stage of development. Although the rapid expansion and increasing complexity of computer applications, systems, and networks in recent years have increased the demand for availability (i.e., fault) and performance management software products, the awareness of, and the demand for, an integrated fault and performance solution is a recent development, and therefore it is difficult to assess:

the size of this market;

the appropriate features and prices for products to address this market;

the optimal distribution strategy; and

the market that will develop and the impact of large competitors within the market.

The development of this market and our growth will depend significantly upon the desire and success of telecommunication carriers, managed services providers, and enterprise customers to integrate availability and performance management functionality into their applications, systems, and networks. Moreover, this market is very competitive and we are in direct competition with larger companies that have substantially greater resources to fund the development of competitive products and the creation and

-8-

Table of Contents

maintenance of direct and indirect sales channels. The integration of availability and performance management functionality into the applications, systems, and networks of telecommunication carriers, managed services providers, and enterprise customers and the presence of larger competitors in this market may impact our ability to retain or increase our market share.

The markets for our products are intensely competitive and rapidly evolving.

We sell software products designed to help companies effectively manage their applications, systems, and networks. As we offer applications availability and performance products to manage the IT infrastructure, we compete both with companies that market comprehensive products to manage the IT infrastructure and with companies that market products for particular segments of the IT infrastructure (e.g. applications and networks). The markets for our products are intensely competitive and rapidly evolving. Our competitors include:

application performance software vendors;

fault management software vendors;

IT visualization software vendors;

report toolset niche vendors;

enterprise management software, framework and platform providers;

software vendors providing service assurance for the wireless market;

large, well-established management framework companies that have developed network or application management platforms;

developers of network element management solutions;

probe vendors;

telecommunications vendors;

system agent vendors; and

vendors that provide, as a service, some of the functionality of our products.

We expect competition to persist, increase, and intensify in the future, which will likely result in price competition within our relevant market. If we do not provide products that achieve success in our market in the short term, we could suffer an insurmountable loss in market share and brand name acceptance. We cannot ensure that we will compete effectively with current and future competitors.

Market acceptance of our eHealth® products and services is critical to our success.

We currently derive significant revenues from the sale of eHealth® Suite family of products and services, and we expect that revenues from these products and services will continue to account for a significant portion of our revenues in the foreseeable future. Broad market acceptance of these products and services is critical to our future success. We cannot ensure that market acceptance of our eHealth® Suite family of products and services will increase or even remain at current levels. Factors that may affect the market acceptance of our products and services include:

-9-

Table of Contents

the availability and price of competing integrated solutions, products and technologies;

the demand for integrated, as opposed to stand-alone, solutions; and

the success of our sales efforts and those of our marketing partners.

Moreover, if demand for integrated availability and performance management software products and services increases, we anticipate that our competitors will introduce additional competitive products and services and new competitors could enter our market and offer alternative products and services resulting in decreased market acceptance of our products and services.

Market acceptance of our netViz® products is critical to our success.

We market and sell netViz[®] products and services. Our revenue is derived primarily from the sale of eHealth® Suite family of products and services, but revenue derived from the sale of netViz[®] products and services constitutes an important component of our quarterly and annual results. Market acceptance of the netViz[®] products and services is critical to our future success. We cannot ensure that market acceptance of netViz[®] products and services. Factors that may affect the market acceptance of netViz[®] products and services include:

the availability and price of competitive products and services;

the ability of others to develop products and services that meet the needs of the market;

the demand for data-driven visualization software; and

the success of our sales efforts and those of our channel partners.

Moreover, if demand for data-driven visualization products increases, we anticipate increased competition in the market from existing and new competitors that may enter our market and offer alternative products resulting in decreased market acceptance of our products.

We may need future capital funding.

We plan to continue to expend substantial funds on the continued development, marketing, and sale of the eHealth® Suite family of products. We had approximately \$164.3 million in short term investments (cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities) as of March 31, 2004. Notwithstanding the foregoing, we cannot ensure that our existing capital resources and any funds that may be generated from future operations together will be sufficient to finance our future operations or that other sources of funding will be available on terms acceptable to us, if at all. In addition, future sales of substantial amounts of our securities in the public market could adversely affect prevailing market prices and could impair our future ability to raise capital through the sale of our securities.

We must introduce product enhancements and new products on a timely basis.

Because of rapid technological change in the software industry, potential changes in the architecture of the IT infrastructure, changes in the software markets in which our product and services are sold, and changes in industry standards, the market acceptance of updated versions of our eHealth® Suite is difficult to estimate. We cannot ensure that:



Table of Contents

we will successfully develop and market enhancements to our eHealth® Suite or successfully develop new products that respond to technological changes, evolving industry standards, or customer requirements;

we will not experience difficulties that could delay or prevent the successful development, introduction, and sale of enhancements or new products; or

enhancements or new products will adequately address the requirements of the marketplace and achieve market acceptance. The need for our products may decrease if manufacturers incorporate our product features into their product offerings.

Our products manage the performance of computer applications, systems, and networks. Presently, manufacturers of both hardware and software have not implemented these management functions into their products in any significant manner. These products typically include operating systems, workstations, network devices, and software. If manufacturers begin to incorporate these management functions into their products, this may decrease the value of our products and have a substantial adverse impact on our business.

Current geopolitical instability and the continuing threat of domestic and international terrorist attacks may adversely impact our revenues.

International tensions, exacerbated by the war in Iraq and the war against global terrorism, contribute to an uncertain political and economic climate, both in the United States and globally, which may affect our ability to generate revenue on a predictable basis. As we sell products both in the United States and internationally, the threat of future terrorist attacks may adversely affect our business. In addition, as a result of the United States role in the war against global terrorism, products produced by U.S. companies may experience boycott or backlash, which may adversely affect our business.

An adverse impact on our outsourcing activities may affect our business.

We currently outsource, on a limited basis, development and testing of certain software products to locations in Europe and Asia. Our efforts to outsource development and testing of software may be adversely affected by various factors, including: geopolitical instability, increased costs associated with outsourcing, relationships with independent contractors performing such product development and testing, and the enforceability of legal arrangements by which we protect our intellectual property rights in connection with these activities. The occurrence of any event that would adversely affect our outsourcing of development and testing of software may have a substantial impact on our business.

Our common stock price could experience significant volatility.

The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to:

variations in our quarterly operating results;

announcements of technological innovations or new products by us or our competitors;

changes in financial estimates by securities analysts;

announcements of results of operations by other companies;

announcement by the government or other agencies regarding the economic health of the United States and the rest of the world;

announcements relating to financial improprieties by public companies; or

other events or factors.

-11-

Table of Contents

In addition, the financial markets have experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected the market prices of equity securities of many high technology companies and that often have been unrelated to the operating performance of such companies or have resulted from the failure of the operating results of such companies to meet market expectations in a particular quarter. Broad market fluctuations or any failure of our operating results in a particular quarter to meet market expectations may adversely affect the market price of our common stock, leading to an increased risk of securities class action litigation. Such litigation could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our attention and resources.

Our industry is subject to rapid technological change. Our success depends upon maintenance of standard protocols.

The software industry is characterized by:

rapid technological change;

frequent introductions of new products;

changes in customer demands; and

evolving industry standards.

The introduction of products embodying new technologies and the emergence of new industry standards can render existing products and integrated product solutions obsolete and unmarketable. While we actively work to develop products that operate with standard protocols, any change in industry standards or the emergence of new network technologies could affect the compatibility of our products, which in turn could affect the demand for, or the pricing of, our products and services.

We rely on strategic partners and other evolving distribution channels.

Our distribution strategy is to develop multiple distribution channels, including sales through:

- strategic marketing partners;
- value added resellers;
- system integrators;
- telecommunication carriers;
- original equipment manufacturers; and

independent software vendors and international distributors.

We have developed a number of these relationships and intend to continue to develop new channel partner relationships. We have focused on identifying and developing our key distribution

Table of Contents

partners worldwide to maximize the success of our indirect sales. As part of this process, we have decreased the total number of distributors selling our products and services, but have sought to increase the quality and focus of our most valuable distributors through improved training and development programs. Our success will depend in large part on our development of these more focused distribution relationships and on the performance and success of other third parties that distribute our products and services, particularly telecommunication carriers and other network service providers. We sell our products and services in the United States through both direct sales to customers and indirect sales to customers through our channel partners. Outside the United States, we sell our products and services primarily through indirect sales via our channel partners. Our international channel partners are located in Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Asia, and North and South America and are subject to local laws, regulations, and customs that may make it difficult to assess accurately the potential revenues that can be generated from a particular market. Our success depends upon our ability to attract and retain valuable channel partners and to accurately assess the size and vitality of the markets in which our products and services are sold. While we have implemented policies and procedures to achieve this, we cannot predict the extent to which we are able to attract and retain financially stable, motivated channel partners. Additionally, our channel partners may not be successful in marketing and selling our products and services. We may:

fail to attract important and effective channel partners;

fail to penetrate our targeted market segments through the use of channel partners; or

lose any of our channel partners, as a result of competitive products and services offered by other companies, products and services developed internally by these channel partners, their financial insolvency or otherwise. We may fail to manage successfully the growth of our business.

We have experienced employee turnover in our sales and operations personnel, our products and services have become increasingly complex, and our distribution channels are being developed and expanded. The rapid evolution of our markets and the increasing complexity of our products and services have placed, and is likely to continue to place, significant strains on our administrative, operational, and financial resources and increase demands on our internal systems, procedures, and controls that may impact our ability to grow our business.

Our success depends on our retention of key personnel.

Our performance depends substantially on the performance of our key technical, senior management, and sales and marketing personnel. We may lose the services of any of such persons. Despite current economic conditions, we experience intense competition for such personnel and are constantly exploring new avenues for attracting and retaining key personnel. However, we cannot ensure that we will successfully attract, assimilate, or retain highly qualified technical, managerial or sales and marketing personnel in the future.

Our failure to continue to expand into international markets could harm our business.

We intend to continue to expand our operations outside of the United States and enter additional international markets, primarily through the establishment of channel partner arrangements. As mentioned above, we have concentrated recently on developing more focused relationships with fewer key distributors. We expect to commit additional time and development resources to customizing our

-13-

Table of Contents

products and services for selected international markets and to developing international sales and support channels. We cannot ensure that such efforts will be successful.

We face certain difficulties and risks inherent in doing business internationally, including, but not limited to:

costs of customizing products and services for international markets;

dependence on independent resellers;

multiple and conflicting regulations;

exchange controls;

longer payment cycles;

unexpected changes in regulatory requirements;

import and export restrictions and tariffs;

difficulties in staffing and managing international operations;

greater difficulty or delay in accounts receivable collections;

potentially adverse tax consequences;

compliance with a variety of laws outside the United States;

the impact of possible recessionary environments in economies outside the United States;

political and economic instability; and

exposure to foreign currency fluctuations.

Our successful expansion into certain countries will require additional modification of our products and services, particularly national language support. Currently, the majority of our current export sales are denominated in U.S. dollars. To the extent that international sales continue to be denominated in U.S. dollars, an increase in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to other currencies could make our products and services more expensive and, therefore, potentially less competitive in international markets. In certain European Union countries, however, we have introduced pricing in Euros. While we do maintain a foreign currency hedging program on accounts receivable, to the extent that future international sales are denominated in foreign currency, our operating results will be subject to risks associated with foreign currency fluctuation. Additionally, as we increase our international sales, seasonal fluctuations in revenue generation resulting from lower sales that typically occur during the summer months in Europe and other parts of the world may affect our total revenues.

Our failure to protect our intellectual property rights may harm our competitive position.

Our success depends significantly upon our proprietary technology. We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, product and services agreements, non-disclosure agreements, and other contractual provisions to establish, maintain, and protect our proprietary rights. These means afford only limited protection.

-14-

Table of Contents

We cannot ensure that patents will issue from our pending applications or from any future applications or that, if issued, any claims allowed will be sufficiently broad to protect our technology. In addition, we cannot ensure that any patents that have been or may be issued will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented, or that any rights granted by those patents would protect our proprietary rights. Failure of any patents to protect our technology may make it easier for our competitors to offer equivalent or superior technology.

We have sought also to protect our intellectual property through the use of copyright, trademark, and trade secret laws. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our products or services, or to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary. Third parties may also independently develop similar technology without breach of our proprietary rights.

In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to as great an extent as do the laws of the United States. Furthermore, some of our products are licensed under end user license agreements (also known as shrinkwrap licenses) that are not signed by licensees. The law governing the enforceability of shrinkwrap license agreements is not settled in most jurisdictions. There can be no guarantee that we would achieve success in enforcing one or more shrinkwrap license agreements if we sought to do so in a court of law.

We license technologies from third parties.

We license from third parties, generally on a non-exclusive basis, certain technologies used in our products, including the root cause analysis and discovery of layer 2 and 3 of the network topology technology from Tavve, that we expect to integrate with our technology to expand the functionality of our products. The incorporation of third party technology is an important component of our product development and the termination of any such licenses, or the failure of the third-party licensors to adequately maintain or update their products, could result in delay in our shipment of certain of our products while we seek to implement technology offered by alternative sources, and any required replacement licenses could prove costly. While it may be necessary or desirable in the future to obtain other licenses relating to one or more of our products or relating to current or future technologies, we cannot ensure that we will be successful in doing so on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

We recently started shipping Oracle® software exclusively as the database on which the eHealth® Suite runs. While we believe the switch to Oracle will make our products even more robust and we are comfortable with the choice of Oracle as a database vendor, there is no guarantee that our customers will readily accept this change. As with any vendor, there also is no guarantee that Oracle will be able to continue to deliver to us an acceptable database solution, nor that the product Oracle delivers will continue to interface effectively with our eHealth® Suite family of products.

Intellectual property infringement claims would harm our business.

Although we do not believe that we are infringing upon the intellectual property rights of others, claims of infringement are becoming increasingly common as the software industry develops legal protections for software products. Litigation may be necessary to protect our proprietary technology, and third parties may assert infringement claims against us with respect to their proprietary rights. Any claims or litigation can be time-consuming and expensive regardless of their merit. Infringement claims against us can cause product release delays, require us to redesign our products, or require us to enter into royalty or license agreements which may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all.

-15-

Table of Contents

We may not have sufficient protection against product liability claims.

Because our products are used by our customers to identify and predict current and future application, system, and network problems and to avoid failures of the IT infrastructure to support critical business functions, design defects, software errors, misuse of our products, incorrect data from network elements, or other potential problems, within or out of our control, may arise from the use of our products and could result in financial or other damages to our customers. Our license agreements with our customers typically contain provisions designed to limit our exposure to potential claims as well as any liabilities arising from such claims. As a matter of practice, our license agreements limit our liability in regards to product liability claims, and in many agreements, our maximum liability for product liability claims is limited to the equivalent of the cost of the products licensed under that agreement. However, any litigation or similar procedure related to a product liability claim may require considerable resources to be expended that could adversely affect our business and financial condition and decrease future revenues.

The conviction of Arthur Andersen LLP may limit potential recoveries related to their prior service as our independent auditors.

Arthur Andersen LLP served as our independent auditors until June 10, 2002. On June 10, 2002, we dismissed Arthur Andersen LLP and on June 11, 2002, we retained PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent auditors. On June 15, 2002, Arthur Andersen LLP was found guilty on federal obstruction of justice charges arising from the government s investigation of Enron Corporation. Following this conviction, on August 31, 2002, Arthur Andersen LLP ceased operations and can no longer reissue its audit reports or provide its consent to include the financial statements to be included in this prospectus. Accordingly, Arthur Andersen LLP has not performed any procedures in connection with the preparation and filing of this prospectus. Events arising out of the indictment and conviction will likely preclude Arthur Andersen LLP from satisfying any claims arising from the provision of auditing services to us, including claims that may arise out of Arthur Andersen LLP s audit of financial statements incorporated by reference in this annual report.

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) rules require us to present historical audited financial statements in various SEC filings, along with consents from Arthur Andersen LLP to include its audit report in those filings. In light of the cessation of Arthur Andersen LLP s SEC practice, we will not be able to obtain the consent of Arthur Andersen LLP for the inclusion of its audit report in our relevant current and future filings. The SEC has provided regulatory relief designed to allow companies that file reports with the SEC to dispense with the requirements to file a consent of Arthur Andersen LLP in certain circumstances, but purchasers of securities sold under our registration statements, which were not filed with the consent of Arthur Andersen LLP for the inclusion of its audit report will not be able to file suit against Arthur Andersen LLP, pursuant to Section 11(a)(4) of the Securities Act and therefore their right of recovery under that section may be limited as a result of the lack of our ability to obtain the consent of Arthur Andersen LLP. If the SEC ceases to accept financial statements from a prior period audited by Arthur Anderson LLP for which Arthur Andersen LLP will not reissue an audit report prior to the date on which our periodic reports are due, our ability to make timely filings with the SEC and access the capital markets could be impaired. In that case, we would not be able to make timely filings with the SEC or access the public capital markets unless another independent accounting firm were able to audit the financial statements originally audited by Arthur Andersen LLP.

-16-

Table of Contents

Limitations on the effectiveness of controls.

Our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls or our internal controls will prevent all errors and intentional misrepresentations. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues, if any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or intentional conduct may occur and not be detected.

Risks Related to the Notes

We will increase our leverage as a result of the sale of the notes.

In connection with the sale of the notes, we have incurred \$86.25 million of indebtedness. As a result of this indebtedness, our interest payment obligations have increased. The degree to which we are now leveraged could adversely affect our ability to obtain further financing for working capital, acquisitions or other purposes and could make us more vulnerable to industry downturns and competitive pressures. Our ability to meet our debt service obligations will be dependent upon our future performance, which may be subject to the financial, business and other factors affecting our operations, many of which are beyond our control.

The notes are effectively subordinated to all of our secured indebtedness and all indebtedness of our subsidiaries.

The notes are our unsecured senior obligations and are not guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries. Accordingly, the notes are effectively subordinated to all of our current and future secured indebtedness to the extent of the assets securing the indebtedness. Furthermore, our right to receive any distribution of assets of any subsidiary upon that subsidiary s liquidation, reorganization or otherwise, is subject to the prior claims of creditors of that subsidiary, except to the extent we are also recognized as a creditor of that subsidiary. As a result, the notes are effectively subordinated to the claims of such creditors.

There are no restrictive covenants in the indenture relating to our ability to incur future indebtedness.

The indenture governing the notes does not contain any financial or operating covenants or restrictions on the payment of dividends, the incurrence of indebtedness, transactions with affiliates, incurrence of liens or the issuance or repurchase of securities by us or any of our subsidiaries. We may therefore incur additional debt, including secured indebtedness senior to the notes. As part of our growth strategy, we potentially may use proceeds from the sale of the notes to finance future acquisitions of complementary businesses or technologies, which may cause us or our subsidiaries to incur significant additional indebtedness to which the notes would be subordinate.

-17-

Table of Contents

The notes are obligations exclusively of Concord Communications, Inc. Our subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities. Our subsidiaries have no obligation to pay any amounts due on the notes or to provide us with funds for our payment obligations, whether by dividends, distributions, loans or other payments. In addition, any payment of dividends, distributions, loans or advances by our subsidiaries to us could be subject to statutory or contractual restrictions. Payments to us by our subsidiaries will also be contingent upon our subsidiaries earnings and business considerations.

Our debt service obligations may adversely affect our cash flow.

A higher level of indebtedness increases the risk that we may default on our debt obligations. We cannot assure you that we will be able to generate sufficient cash flow to pay the interest on our debt or that future working capital, borrowings or equity financing will be available to pay or refinance such debt. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow to pay the interest on our debt, we may have to delay or curtail our research and development programs.

The level of our indebtedness among other things, could:

make it difficult for us to make payments on the notes;

make it difficult for us to obtain any necessary financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements or other purposes;

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we compete; and

make us more vulnerable in the event of a downturn in our business.

Our notes may not be rated or may receive a lower rating than anticipated by investors, which could cause a decline in the liquidity or market price of the notes.

We do not intend to seek a rating on the notes and we believe it is unlikely the notes will be rated. However, if one or more rating agencies rates the notes and assigns the notes a rating lower than the rating expected by investors, or reduced their rating in the future, the market price of the notes and common stock may be adversely affected.

If we pay cash dividends on our common stock, the holders of notes may be deemed to have received a taxable dividend without the receipt of any cash.

If we pay a cash dividend on our common stock, we are required under the indenture to adjust the conversion rate. As a result of the adjustment to the conversion rate, the holders of notes may be deemed to have received a taxable dividend subject to U.S. federal income tax without the receipt of any cash. See Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences.

If a conversion contingency is met, our earnings per share on a diluted basis could decrease as a result of the inclusion of all of the shares underlying the notes in the calculation of such earnings.

The holders of the notes are entitled to convert the notes into shares of our common stock (or cash or a combination of cash and common stock, if we so elect), if, among other circumstances, the closing sale price of our common stock for at least 20 trading days in any 30 consecutive trading day period is equal to or greater than 120% of the conversion price in effect on that 30th trading day. Until

-18-

Table of Contents

this conversion contingency or another conversion contingency is met, the shares underlying the notes are not included in the calculation of our basic or diluted earnings per share. Should a conversion contingency be met, fully diluted earnings per share would be expected to decrease as a result of the inclusion of all of the underlying shares in the fully diluted earnings per share calculation.

We will have broad discretion with respect to the use of proceeds from the offering of notes.

The net proceeds of the offering of notes to the initial purchaser on December 8, 2003 were approximately \$82.9 million. Our management will retain broad discretion as to the use and allocation of the net proceeds. Accordingly, you will not have the opportunity to evaluate the economic financial and other relevant information that we may consider in the application of the net proceeds of the offering of notes.

We may not have the funds necessary to purchase the notes upon a designated event or other purchase date, as required by the indenture governing the notes.

On December 15, 2008, December 15, 2013 and December 15, 2018, holders of the notes may require us to purchase their notes, which repurchase may be made for cash. In addition, holders may also require us to purchase their notes upon a designated event as described under Description of Notes Repurchase of Notes at Your Option Upon a Designated Event. If we do not have or have access to sufficient funds to repurchase the notes, then we would not be able to repurchase your notes. If a repurchase event occurs, we expect that we would require third-party financing to repurchase the notes, but we cannot assure you that we would be able to obtain that financing on favorable terms or at all.

There is no active market for the notes and if an active trading market does not develop for these notes you may not be able to resell them.

The notes are a new issue of securities for which there is currently no trading market. We do not intend to list the notes on any national securities exchange or to seek the admission of the notes for trading in the Nasdaq National Market. However, the notes are eligible for trading on the Nasdaq s screen-based automated trading system known as PORTAL. We have been advised by the initial purchaser that following the completion of the offering, the initial purchaser currently intends to make a market in the notes. However, it is not obligated to do so and any market-making activities with respect to the notes may be discontinued at any time without notice. In addition, market-making activity will be subject to the limits imposed by law.

Further, even if a market were to exist, the notes could trade at prices that may be lower than the initial offering price depending on many factors, including prevailing interest rates, the markets for similar securities, general economic conditions and our financial condition, performance and prospects. The liquidity of, and the trading market for, the notes may be adversely affected by general declines or disruptions in the market for non-investment grade debt.

The market price of our common stock is highly volatile, which could adversely affect the value of the notes.

Because the notes are convertible into shares of our common stock, the factors which affect the market price of our common stock may also affect the value of the notes. See Risk Factors Our common stock price could experience significant volatility.

Table of Contents

Securities we issue to fund our operations could dilute your ownership.

We may decide to raise additional funds through a public or private debt or equity financing to fund our operations. If we raise funds by issuing equity securities, the percentage ownership of current stockholders, including the ownership that holders of the notes would have upon conversion, will be reduced, and the new equity securities may have rights prior to those of the common stock issuance upon conversion of the notes. We may not obtain sufficient financing on terms that are favorable to you and us.

USE OF PROCEEDS

We will not receive any proceeds from the resale of the notes or the underlying common stock by selling securityholders.

DESCRIPTION OF NOTES

The notes were issued under an indenture dated as of December 8, 2003, between Concord Communications, Inc., as issuer, and Wilmington Trust Company, a Delaware banking corporation, as trustee. Initially, the trustee will also be paying agent and conversion agent. The notes and the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes are covered by a registration rights agreement.

You may request a copy of the notes, the indenture and the registration rights agreement from the trustee.

The following description is a summary of the material provisions of the notes, the indenture and the registration rights agreement. It does not purport to be complete. This summary is subject to and is qualified by reference to all the provisions of the indenture, including the definitions of certain terms used in the indenture, and to all provisions of the registration rights agreement. Wherever particular provisions or defined terms of the indenture or form of note are referred to, these provisions or defined terms are incorporated in this prospectus by reference. We urge you to read the notes, the indenture, and the registration rights agreement, because they, and not this description, define the rights of each holder of the notes.

Brief Description of the Notes

The notes:

consist of an aggregate principal amount of \$86.25 million;

were sold at an issue price of 100% of the principal amount of the notes, which is \$1,000 per note;

bear interest at an annual rate of 3.0% of the principal amount, payable semi-annually, in arrears, on June 15th and December 15th of each year, commencing on June 15, 2004;

accrue additional amounts if we fail to comply with certain obligations as set forth below under Registration Rights ;

are our general unsecured obligations, ranking equally with all of our other existing and future unsecured senior indebtedness and senior in right of payment to any of our future subordinated indebtedness, and are effectively subordinated to any of our existing and future secured senior indebtedness to the extent of the assets securing such indebtedness and to the claims of all creditors of our subsidiaries;

-20-

Table of Contents

may be converted by the holder into shares of our common stock initially at a conversion rate of 37.2148 shares of our common stock per \$1,000 principal amount of notes, which represents an initial conversion price of approximately \$26.87 per share, only in the following circumstances:

during any conversion period if on each of at least 20 trading days in the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the first trading day of the conversion period, the closing sale price of our common stock exceeded 120% of the conversion price in effect on that 30th trading day of such period; a conversion period will be the period from and including the 30th trading day in a fiscal quarter to, but not including, the 30th trading day (or, if that day is not a trading day, then the next trading day) in the immediately following fiscal quarter;

if we have called the notes for redemption; or

upon the occurrence of specified corporate transactions described under Conversion Rights Conversion Upon Specified Corporate Transactions.

are redeemable at our option in whole or in part beginning on December 15, 2008, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, to, but not including, the redemption date;

are subject at a holder s option to repurchase by us upon a designated event of Concord, as described under Purchase of Notes at a Holder s Option Upon a Designated Event, and on December 15, 2008, December 15, 2013 and December 15, 2018, at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, to but not including, the repurchase date;

are eligible for trading on The PORTAL Market; and

are due on December 15, 2023, payable in cash in an amount equal to \$1,000 per note, plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, unless earlier converted, redeemed by us at our option or repurchased by us at your option.

The indenture does not contain any financial covenants and does not restrict us from paying dividends, incurring additional indebtedness or issuing or repurchasing other securities. In addition, our subsidiaries are not restricted under the indenture from incurring additional indebtedness. The indenture also does not protect a holder of notes in the event of a highly leveraged transaction or a designated event, as defined below, of Concord, except to the extent described under Purchase of Notes at a Holder s Option Upon a Designated Event below.

The notes are issued in book-entry form only in denominations of \$1,000 principal amount and whole multiples thereof. Beneficial interests in the notes will be shown on, and transfers will be effected only through, records maintained by the Depository Trust Company, or its nominee (DTC), and any such interests may not be exchanged for certificated securities except in limited circumstances.

A holder of notes may not sell or otherwise transfer the notes or the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes except in compliance with the provisions set forth below under Transfer Restrictions and Registration Rights.

Interest



Table of Contents

The notes bear interest at an annual rate of 3.0% from December 8, 2003. We will pay interest semi-annually in arrears in cash on June 15th and December 15th of each year, beginning June, 2004, to the holders of record at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the preceding June 1st and December 1st, respectively. Interest generally will be computed semi-annually on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months.

There are certain exceptions to the preceding sentence:

In general, we will not pay accrued interest on any notes that are converted into our common stock. See Conversion Rights. If a holder of notes converts after a record date for an interest payment but prior to the corresponding interest payment date, the holder on the record date will receive on that interest payment date accrued and unpaid interest on those notes, notwithstanding the conversion of those notes prior to that interest payment date, because that holder will have been the holder of record on the corresponding record date. However, at the time that holder surrenders notes for conversion, the holder must pay to us an amount equal to the interest that has accrued and that will be paid on the related interest payment date. The preceding sentence does not apply, however, to a holder that converts notes that are called by us for redemption. Accordingly, if we elect to redeem notes and a holder of notes chooses to convert those notes on a date that is after a record date but prior to the corresponding interest payment date, the holder will not be required to pay us, at the time that holder surrenders those notes for conversion, the amount of interest it will receive on the interest payment date.

We will pay interest to a person other than the holder of record on the record date if we elect to redeem the notes on a date that is after a record date but on or prior to the corresponding interest payment date. In this instance, we will pay accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, on the notes being redeemed to, but not including, the redemption date to the same person to whom we will pay the principal of those notes.

We will pay interest to a person other than the holder of record on the record date if, in connection with a designated event, we elect a designated event purchase date that is after a record date but on or prior to the corresponding interest payment date. In this instance, we will pay accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, on the notes being purchased to, but not including, the designated event purchase date to the same person to whom we will pay the principal of those notes.

At maturity, interest on the certificated notes will be payable at the principal corporate trust office of the trustee presently located at 1100 North Market Street, Rodney Square North, Wilmington, DE 19890.

We will also pay additional amounts of interest on the notes under certain circumstances described below under Registration Rights.

Interest otherwise payable will cease to accrue on a note upon its repayment at maturity, conversion or purchase by us (including upon a designated event).

Except as provided below, we will pay interest on:

global notes to DTC in immediately available funds;

any certificated notes having an aggregate principal amount of 5.0 million or less by check mailed to the holders of those notes; and

-22-

Table of Contents

any certificated notes having an aggregate principal amount of more than \$5.0 million by wire transfer in immediately available funds if requested in writing by the holders of those notes, otherwise by check mailed to the holders of these notes.

We are not required to make any payment on the notes due on any day which is not a business day until the next succeeding business day. The payment made on the next business day will be treated as though it were paid on the original due date and no interest will be payable on the payment date for the additional period of time.

Ranking

The notes are our general unsecured obligations, ranking equally in right of payment with all our existing and future unsecured senior indebtedness, and senior in right of payment to any of our future subordinated indebtedness. The notes are effectively subordinated to any of our existing and future secured senior indebtedness to the extent of the assets securing such indebtedness and to the claims of all creditors of our subsidiaries.

Conversion Rights

General

A holder may convert all or any portion of such holder s outstanding notes, subject to the conditions described below, initially at a conversion rate of 37.2148 shares of common stock per \$1,000 principal amount of the notes. This is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately \$26.87. The conversion rate, and thus the conversion price, is subject to adjustment as described below. A holder may convert notes only in denominations of \$1,000 principal amount and integral multiples thereof.

A holder may surrender notes for conversion prior to the stated maturity only under the following circumstances:

during any conversion period if on each of at least 20 trading days in the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the first trading day of the conversion period, the closing sale price of our common stock exceeded 120% of the conversion price in effect on that 30th trading day of such period; a conversion period will be the period from and including the 30th trading day in a fiscal quarter to, but not including, the 30th trading day (or, if that day is not a trading day, then the next trading day) in the immediately following fiscal quarter;

if we have called those notes for redemption; or

upon the occurrence of the specified corporate transactions discussed below.

A trading day means a day during which trading in securities generally occurs on the Nasdaq National Market or, if our common stock is not quoted on the Nasdaq National Market, on the principal U.S. national or regional securities exchange on which our common stock is then listed or, if our common stock is not listed on a U.S. national or regional securities exchange, and not reported on the Nasdaq National Market, on the principal other market on which our common stock is then traded (provided that no day on which trading of our common stock is suspended on such exchange or other trading market will count as a trading day).

Upon conversion, we have the right to deliver, in lieu of shares of our common stock, cash or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, as described below under Conversion



Table of Contents

Procedures Payment Upon Conversion. For a discussion of the U.S. federal income tax consequences of conversion to a holder, see Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences Conversion into Common.

The conversion agent will, on our behalf, determine if the notes are convertible and notify the trustee and us accordingly. If a holder has exercised its right to require us to purchase its notes as described under Purchase of Notes at a Holder's Option Upon a Designated Event, the holder may convert its notes only if it withdraws its designated event purchase notice prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the business day immediately preceding the applicable purchase date.

We will not issue fractional shares of our common stock upon the conversion of the notes. Instead, we will pay the cash value of such fractional shares based upon the closing sale price of our common stock on the trading day immediately prior to the conversion date.

Conversion Upon Satisfaction of Common Stock Price Condition

A holder has the right to convert any of its notes during any conversion period if on each of at least 20 trading days in the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the first trading day of the conversion period, the closing sale price of our common stock exceeded 120% of the conversion price in effect on that 30th trading day of such period; a conversion period will be the period from and including the 30th trading day (or, if that day is not a trading day, then the next trading day) in the immediately following fiscal quarter.

The initial conversion trigger price per share of our common stock is \$32.25. The conversion trigger price reflects the initial conversion price per share of our common stock multiplied by 120%.

The closing sale price of any share of common stock on any date means the closing sale price of a share of common stock (or if no closing sale price is reported, the average of the bid and ask prices or, if there is more than one bid or ask price, the average of the average bid and the average ask prices) on that date as reported by the Nasdaq National Market or, if the common stock is not quoted on the Nasdaq National Market, as reported on a national securities exchange. If our common stock is not listed for trading on a national securities exchange and not quoted on the Nasdaq National Market on the relevant date, the closing sale price will be the last quoted bid for our common stock is not so quoted, the closing sale price will be the average of the average of the midpoint of the last bid and ask prices for our common stock on the relevant date from each of at least three nationally recognized independent investment banking firms selected by us for this purpose.

Conversion Upon Notice of Redemption

A holder has the right to convert any of its notes that we have called for redemption at any time prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the day that is two business days prior to the redemption date, even if the notes are not otherwise convertible at such time. If a holder already has delivered a repurchase notice or a designated event purchase notice with respect to a note, however, the holder may not surrender that note for conversion until the holder has withdrawn the notice in accordance with the indenture.

Conversion Upon Specified Corporate Transactions

A holder has the right to convert any of its notes in the event:

-24-

Table of Contents

we distribute to all holders of our common stock certain rights or warrants entitling them to subscribe for or purchase, for a period expiring within 60 days, common stock at less than the closing sale price of the common stock on the business day immediately preceding the announcement of such distribution;

we elect to distribute to all holders of our common stock, cash or other assets, debt securities or certain rights or warrants to purchase our securities, including the declaration of any cash dividends, payable quarterly or otherwise, which distribution has a per share value exceeding 10% of the closing sale price of the common stock on the business day immediately preceding the declaration date for the distribution; or

a designated event (as defined under Purchase of Notes at a Holder s Option Upon a Designated Event) occurs. In any such event, a holder may convert any of its notes at any time after we notify holders of such event:

in the case of a distribution, until the earlier of 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the business day immediately preceding the ex-dividend date or the date of our announcement that the distribution will not take place; or

in the case of a designated event, within 20 business days of the designated event notice.

We will notify holders at least 15 business days prior to the ex-dividend date for the distribution or within 15 business days following the occurrence of the designated event, as the case may be. In the case of a distribution, a holder of notes may not convert any of its notes if, as a holder of notes, the holder will otherwise participate in the distribution without conversion.

In addition, if we are party to a consolidation, merger or binding share exchange pursuant to which our common stock would be converted into cash, securities or other property, a holder may surrender notes for conversion at any time from and after the date which is 15 calendar days prior to date announced by us as the anticipated effective date of the transaction until 15 calendar days after the actual date of the transaction. If we are a party to a consolidation, merger or binding share exchange pursuant to which our common stock is converted into cash, securities or other property, then at the effective time of the transaction, the right to convert the notes into common stock will be changed into a right to convert the notes into the kind and amount of cash, securities or other property which the holder would have received if the holder had converted such notes immediately prior to the transaction. If the transaction also constitutes a designated event, the holder can require us to purchase all or a portion of its notes as described under Purchase of Notes at a Holder s Option Upon a Designated Event.

Conversion Procedures

General

We will not issue fractional shares of common stock upon conversion of the notes. Instead, we will pay the cash value of such fractional shares based upon the closing sale price of our common stock on the trading day immediately prior to the conversion date. Except as provided in the next paragraph, upon conversion, we will not make any payment or other adjustment for accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, on the notes. Accrued and unpaid interest, if any, will be deemed to be paid in full with the shares of our

-25-

Table of Contents

common stock issued or cash paid upon conversion, rather than cancelled, extinguished or forfeited.

If a holder of notes converts after a record date for an interest payment but prior to the corresponding interest payment date, the holder on the record date will receive on that interest payment date interest (including additional amounts), if any, accrued and unpaid on those notes, notwithstanding the conversion of those notes prior to that interest payment date, because that holder will have been the holder of record on the corresponding record date. However, at the time the holder surrenders any notes for conversion, it must pay us an amount equal to the interest (including additional amounts), if any, that have accrued and will be paid on the notes being converted on the interest payment date. The preceding sentence does not apply to notes that are converted after being called by us for redemption. Accordingly, if we elect to redeem notes and a holder of notes chooses to convert those notes on a date that is after a record date but prior to the corresponding interest payment date, the holder will not be required to pay us, at the time that holder surrenders those notes for conversion, the amount of interest it will receive on the interest payment date.

Except as described under Conversion Rate Adjustments, we will not make any payment or other adjustment for dividends on any common stock issued upon conversion of the notes.

If a holder of notes converts, we will pay any documentary, stamp or similar issue or transfer tax due on the issue of shares of our common stock upon the conversion, unless the tax is due because such holder requests the shares to be issued or delivered to another person, in which case such holder will pay that tax.

Procedures

To convert interests in a global note, a holder must deliver to DTC the appropriate instruction form for conversion pursuant to DTC s conversion program.

To convert a certificated note, a holder must:

complete and manually sign the conversion notice on the back of the note (or a facsimile thereof);

deliver the completed conversion notice and the note to be converted to the specified office of the conversion agent;

if required by the conversion agent, furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents;

pay all funds required, if any, relating to interest on the note to be converted to which it is not entitled; and

pay all taxes or duties, if any, as described in the preceding paragraph.

The conversion date will be the date on which all of the foregoing requirements have been satisfied. The notes will be deemed to have been converted immediately prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the conversion date.

If we elect to settle in common stock only, a certificate for the number of full shares of common stock into which the notes are converted (and cash in lieu of fractional shares) will be delivered to such holder, assuming all of the other requirements have been satisfied by such holder, as

Table of Contents

soon as practicable after we issue our notification of our chosen method of settlement, which we must issue on the date that is three trading days following receipt of the conversion notice. If we elect to settle in cash or a combination of cash and common stock, the cash and, if applicable, a certificate for the number of full shares of common stock into which the notes are converted (and cash in lieu of fractional shares) will be delivered to such holder, assuming all of the other requirements have been satisfied by such holder, on the 31st trading day following receipt of the conversion notice, unless the holder submits its conversion notice within 30 trading days prior to maturity.

In the event of a designated event, if a holder has submitted any or all of its notes for repurchase, a holder s conversion rights on the notes so subject to repurchase will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the business day immediately preceding the repurchase date, unless we default in the payment of the repurchase price. If a holder has submitted any note for repurchase, such note may be converted only if a holder submits a notice of withdrawal, and if the note is a global note, complies with appropriate DTC procedures. To the extent that we have a rights plan in effect upon conversion of the notes into common stock, a holder will receive, in addition to the common stock, the rights under the rights plan whether or not the rights have separated from the common stock at the time of applicable conversion, subject to limited exceptions. The Company does not currently have a rights plan.

Payment Upon Conversion

In lieu of delivery of shares of our common stock, and pursuant to the procedures described below, we may elect to deliver to holders surrendering notes either cash, or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock or a combination thereof.

Conversion On or Prior to 31 Trading Days Prior to Maturity. If we receive a holder s conversion notice on or prior to the day that is 31 trading days prior to the stated maturity of the notes (the final notice date), the following procedures will apply:

We will notify the holder through the trustee, at any time on the date that is three trading days following receipt of the holder s conversion notice (the settlement notice period), of the method we choose to settle our obligation upon conversion (the conversion obligation). Specifically, we will indicate whether settlement will be 100% in common stock, 100% in cash or a combination of cash and common stock. If we elect to settle our conversion obligation in a combination of cash and common stock, we will specify both the percentage of the principal amount of notes surrendered for conversion that we will pay in cash and the percentage of the excess (the excess amount), if any, of the conversion obligation relating to the notes surrendered for conversion over the principal amount of the notes surrendered for conversion that we will pay in cash. The remainder of our conversion obligation will be settled in shares of our common stock (except that we will pay cash in lieu of issuing any fractional shares). We will treat all holders converting on the same trading days in the same manner. We will not, however, have any obligation to settle the excess conversion obligation arising on different trading days in the same manner. That is, we may choose on one trading day to settle in common stock only and choose on another trading day to settle in cash or a combination of common stock and cash.

If we timely elect to pay cash for any portion of the conversion obligation, the holder may retract the conversion notice at any time during the two trading day period beginning on the day after the final day of the settlement notice period (the conversion retraction period); no such retraction can be made (and a conversion notice shall be irrevocable) if

-27-

Table of Contents

we do not elect to deliver cash in lieu of common stock (other than cash in lieu of fractional shares).

Settlement in common stock only will occur as soon as practicable after we notify the holder that we have chosen this method of settlement. If the conversion notice has not been retracted, then settlement in cash or in a combination of cash and common stock will occur on the third trading day following the final day of the 20 trading day period beginning on the third trading day following the final day of the conversion retraction period (the cash settlement averaging period).

The settlement amount will be computed as follows:

- 1. If we elect to satisfy the entire conversion obligation in common stock, we will deliver to the holder a number of shares of common stock equal to (i) the aggregate principal amount of notes to be converted divided by 1,000 and multiplied by (ii) the conversion rate.
- 2. If we elect to satisfy the entire conversion obligation in cash, we will deliver to the holder cash in an amount equal to the product of:

a number equal to (i) the aggregate principal amount of the notes to be converted divided by 1,000 and multiplied by (ii) the conversion rate, and

the arithmetic average of the closing sale prices of our common stock during the cash settlement averaging period.

3. If we elect to satisfy the conversion obligation in a combination of cash and common stock, we will deliver to the holder:

a cash amount (cash amount) (excluding any cash paid for fractional shares) equal to:

the aggregate principal amount of notes to be converted multiplied by the percentage of such principal amount to be satisfied in cash, and

if greater than zero, the product of (i) the amount of cash that would be paid in clause (2) above minus the aggregate principal amount of the notes surrendered for conversion, and (ii) the percentage of the excess amount to be satisfied in cash; plus

a number of shares equal to (i) the number of shares that would be issued in clause (1) above minus (ii) the number of shares equal to the quotient of the cash amount divided by the arithmetic average of the closing sale prices of our common stock during the cash settlement averaging period.

Conversion During 30 Trading Days Prior to Maturity. If we receive a holder s conversion notice after the final notice date, the following procedure will apply:

We will notify the holder through the trustee of the method we choose to settle our conversion obligation in the same manner as set forth above under Conversion On or Prior to 31 Trading Days Prior to Maturity, except that we will settle all of our

-28-

Table of Contents

conversion obligations arising during the 30 trading days prior to maturity in the same manner.

A holder cannot retract such holder s conversion notice if we elect to pay cash for any portion of the conversion obligation.

Settlement in common stock only will occur as soon as practicable after we notify the holder that we have chosen this method of settlement. Settlement in cash or in a combination of cash and common stock will occur on the third trading day following the final trading day of such cash settlement averaging period.

The settlement amount will be computed in the same manner as set forth above under Conversion On or Prior to 31 Trading Days Prior to Maturity, except that the cash settlement averaging period shall be the 20 trading day period beginning on the date that is the 23rd trading day prior to the maturity date.

Conversion Rate Adjustments

We will adjust the conversion rate if any of the following events occur:

- 1. we issue shares of common stock as a dividend or distribution to all or substantially all holders of our common stock;
- 2. we subdivide, combine or reclassify our common stock;
- 3. we issue to all or substantially all holders of our common stock certain rights or warrants to purchase our common stock, or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for our common stock, for a period expiring within 60 days, at less than the closing sale price of our common stock on the business day immediately preceding the date of the announcement of such issuance, provided that the conversion rate will be readjusted to the extent that such rights or warrants are not exercised prior to the expiration;
- 4. we distribute to all or substantially all holders of our common stock shares of our capital stock or evidences of our indebtedness or assets, including securities, but excluding:

dividends or distributions listed in (1) above;

rights or warrants listed in (3) above;

dividends and distributions in connection with reclassification, change, consolidation, merger, combination, sale or convergence resulting in a change in the conversion consideration pursuant to the next succeeding paragraph; and

cash distributions listed in (6) below;

5. we distribute to all or substantially all holders of our common stock shares of capital stock of one of our subsidiaries, with such adjustment, if any, based on the market value of the subsidiary capital stock so distributed relative to the market

-29-

Table of Contents

value of our common stock, in each case over a measurement period following the distribution;

- 6. we distribute cash to all or substantially all holders of our common stock, including quarterly cash dividends; or
- 7. we or one of our subsidiaries make purchases of our common stock pursuant to a tender offer or exchange offer for our common stock (other than as part of a stock option exchange offer).

In the event of any:

reclassification or change of our common stock;

consolidation, merger or binding share exchange involving us; or

sale or conveyance to another person or entity of all or substantially all of our property or assets

in which holders of our common stock would be entitled to receive stock, other securities, other property, assets or cash for their common stock, upon conversion of a noteholder s notes, such noteholder will be entitled to receive the same type of consideration which such noteholder would have been entitled to receive if such noteholder had converted the notes into our common stock immediately prior to any of these events.

A holder of notes may, in certain circumstances, be deemed to have received a distribution or dividend subject to U.S. federal income tax as a result of an adjustment or the nonoccurrence of an adjustment to the conversion price. See Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences Tax Consequences to U.S. Holders Constructive Dividends.

To the extent permitted by law, we may, from time to time, increase the conversion rate for a period of at least 20 days if our board of directors determines that this increase would be in our best interests, subject to compliance with Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4350(i). Any such determination by our board will be conclusive. We would give holders at least 15 days notice of any increase in the conversion rate. In addition, we may increase the conversion rate if our board of directors deems it advisable to avoid or diminish any income tax to holders of common stock resulting from any distribution of common stock or similar event, subject to compliance with Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4350(i).

We will not be required to make an adjustment in the conversion rate unless the adjustment would require a change of at least one percent in the conversion rate. However, we will carry forward any adjustments that are less than one percent of the conversion rate. Except as described above in this section, we will not adjust the conversion rate for any issuance of our common stock or convertible, exchangeable or exercisable securities or rights to purchase our common stock or convertible, exchangeable or exercisable securities.

Payment at Maturity

At the maturity date, each holder of \$1,000 principal amount of the notes shall be entitled to receive \$1,000, and accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, in cash to, but not including, the maturity date.

Sinking Fund

-30-

No sinking fund is provided for the notes.

Optional Redemption

On or after December 15, 2008, we may redeem for cash all or a portion of the notes at any time for a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, to but not including the redemption date. We will provide not less than 20 calendar days nor more than 60 calendar days notice mailed to each holder of the notes to be redeemed. When the redemption notice is given and funds deposited as required, interest will cease to accrue on and after the redemption date on the notes or portions of such notes called for redemption. If we decide to redeem fewer than all of the outstanding notes, the trustee will select the notes to be redeemed by lot, or on a pro rata basis or by another method the trustee considers fair and appropriate. If the trustee selects a portion of a holder s notes for partial redemption and such holder converts a portion of its notes, the converted portion will be deemed to be from the portion selected for redemption.

Purchase of Notes at a Holder s Option

Holders have the right to require us to purchase all or a portion of their notes for cash on December 15, 2008, December 15, 2013 and December 15, 2018 (each, a purchase date). Any note purchased by us on a purchase date will be paid for in cash. We will be required to purchase any outstanding notes for which a holder delivers a written purchase notice to the paying agent. This notice must be delivered during the period beginning at any time from the opening of business on the date that is 22 business days prior to the relevant purchase date until the close of business on the date that is two business days prior to the purchase date. If the purchase notice is given and withdrawn prior to the relevant purchase date, we will not be obligated to purchase the related notes. Also, as described in the Risk Factors section of this prospectus under the caption We May Not Have the Funds Necessary to Purchase the Notes Upon a Designated Event or Other Purchase Date, as Covered by the Indenture Governing the Notes we may not have funds sufficient to purchase notes when we are required to do so.

The purchase price payable will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be purchased plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, to, but not including, the purchase date.

On or before the 22nd business day prior to each purchase date, we will provide to the trustee, the paying agent and to all holders of the notes at their addresses shown in the register of the registrar, and to beneficial owners as required by applicable law, a notice stating, among other things:

the purchase price;

the name and address of the paying agent and the conversion agent; and

the procedures that holders must follow to require us to purchase their notes.

Simultaneously with providing such notice, we will publish a notice containing this information in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of New York or publish the information on our website or through such other public medium as we may use at that time.

A notice electing to require us to purchase a holder s notes must state:

Table of Contents

the relevant purchase date;

if certificated notes have been issued, the certificate numbers of the notes;

the portion of the principal amount of notes to be purchased, in integral multiples of \$1,000; and

that the notes are to be purchased by us pursuant to the applicable provisions of the notes and the indenture. If the notes are not in certificated form, a holder s notice must comply with appropriate DTC procedures.

No notes may be purchased at the option of holders if there has occurred and is continuing an event of default other than an event of default that is cured by the payment of the purchase price of the notes.

A holder may withdraw any purchase notice in whole or in part by a written notice of withdrawal delivered to the paying agent prior to the close of business on the business day prior to the purchase date. The notice of withdrawal must state:

the principal amount of the withdrawn notes;

if certificated notes have been issued, the certificate numbers of the withdrawn notes; and

the principal amount, if any, which remains subject to the purchase notice. If the notes are not in certificated form, a holder s notice must comply with appropriate DTC procedures.

A holder must either effect book-entry transfer or deliver the notes, together with necessary endorsements, to the office of the paying agent after delivery of the purchase notice to receive payment of the purchase price. A holder will receive payment promptly following the later of the purchase date or the time of book-entry transfer or the delivery of the notes. If the paying agent holds money sufficient to pay the purchase price of the notes on the business day following the purchase date, then:

the notes will cease to be outstanding and interest (including additional amounts), if any, will cease to accrue (whether or not book-entry transfer of the notes is made or whether or not the note is delivered to the paying agent); and

all other rights of the holder will terminate (other than the right to receive the purchase price upon delivery or transfer of the notes). **Purchase of Notes at a Holder s Option Upon a Designated Event**

In the event of a designated event, a holder will have the right to require us to purchase for cash all or any part of the notes after the occurrence of a designated event at a purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, up to, but not including, the designated event purchase date. Notes submitted for purchase must be \$1,000 or an integral multiple thereof.

-32-

Table of Contents

On or before the 20th calendar day after the occurrence of a designated event, we will provide to all holders of the notes and the trustee and paying agent a notice of the occurrence of the designated event and of the resulting purchase right. Such notice shall state, among other things, the procedures that holders must follow to require us to purchase the notes and the date of the designated event.

Simultaneously with providing such notice, we will publish a notice containing this information in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of New York or publish the information on our website or through such other public medium as we may use at that time.

To exercise the purchase right, a holder must deliver, on or before the 20th business day after the date of our notice of a designated event, subject to extension to comply with applicable law, the notes to be purchased, duly endorsed for transfer, together with a written purchase notice and the form entitled Form of Designated Event Purchase Notice on the reverse side of the notes duly completed, to the paying agent. The purchase notice must state:

the relevant purchase date;

if certificated notes have been issued, the certificate numbers of the notes;

the portion of the principal amount of notes to be purchased, in integral multiples of \$1,000; and

that the notes are to be purchased by us pursuant to the applicable provisions of the notes and the indenture. If the notes are not in certificated form, a holder s purchase notice must comply with appropriate DTC procedures.

A holder may withdraw any purchase notice (in whole or in part) by a written notice of withdrawal delivered to the paying agent prior to the close of business on the business day prior to the designated event purchase date. The notice of withdrawal shall state:

the principal amount of the withdrawn notes;

if certificated notes have been issued, the certificate numbers of the withdrawn notes; and

the principal amount, if any, which remains subject to the purchase notice. If the notes are not in certificated form, a holder s notice of withdrawal must comply with appropriate DTC procedures.

We will be required to purchase the notes no later than 35 business days after the date of our notice of the occurrence of the relevant designated event subject to extension to comply with applicable law. A holder will receive payment of the designated event purchase price promptly following the later of the designated event purchase date or the time of book-entry transfer or the delivery of the notes. If the paying agent holds cash sufficient to pay the designated event purchase price of the notes on the business day following the designated event purchase date, then:

the notes will cease to be outstanding and interest (including additional amounts), if any, will cease to accrue (whether or not book-entry transfer of the notes is made or whether or not the note is delivered to the paying agent); and

-33-

Table of Contents

all other rights of the holder will terminate (other than the right to receive the designated event purchase price and any previously accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, upon delivery or transfer of the notes). A designated event will be deemed to have occurred if any of the following occurs:

any person or group (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) is or becomes the beneficial owner (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 of the Exchange Act, except that a person shall be deemed to have beneficial ownership of all shares that such person has the right to acquire, whether such right is exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time), directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of our total outstanding voting stock;

during any period of two consecutive years, individuals who at the beginning of such period constituted our board of directors (together with any new directors whose election to such board or whose nomination for election by our stockholders, was approved by a vote of at least 66 2/3% of the directors then still in office who were either directors at the beginning of such period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved) cease for any reason to constitute a majority of such board of directors then in office;

we consolidate with or merge with or into any person or convey, transfer, sell, or otherwise dispose of or lease all or substantially all of our assets to any person, or any corporation consolidates with or merges into or with us, in any such event pursuant to a transaction in which our outstanding voting stock is changed into or exchanged for cash, securities or other property, other than any such transaction where our outstanding voting stock is not changed or exchanged at all (except to the extent necessary to reflect a change in our jurisdiction of incorporation), or where (A) our outstanding voting stock is changed into or exchanged into or exchanged for cash, securities and other property (other than equity interests of the surviving corporation) and (B) if our stockholders immediately before such transaction constituting a change of control own, directly or indirectly, immediately following such transaction, more than 50% of the total outstanding voting stock of the surviving corporation;

we are liquidated or dissolved or adopt a plan of liquidation or dissolution other than in a transaction which complies with the provisions described under Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets ; or

our common stock ceases to be quoted on the Nasdaq National Market or listed another established national securities exchange or traded on an automated over-the-counter trading market in the United States.

However, notwithstanding the foregoing, a designated event will not be deemed to have occurred if either:

the closing sales price of our common stock for each of at least five trading days within:

the period of ten consecutive trading days immediately after the later of the designated event or the public announcement of the designated event, in the case of a designated event resulting solely from a designated event under the first bullet point above; or

-34-

Table of Contents

the period of ten consecutive trading days immediately preceding the designated event, in the case of a designated event under the second, third and fourth bullet points above;

is at least equal to 105% of the quotient where the numerator is the principal amount and the denominator is the conversion rate in effect on each of those five trading days; or

in the case of a merger or consolidation described in the third bullet point above, at least 95% of the consideration, excluding cash payments for fractional shares and cash payments pursuant to dissenters approval rights, in the merger or consolidation constituting the designated event, consists of common stock traded on a U.S. national securities exchange or quoted on the Nasdaq National Market (or which will be so traded or quoted when issued or exchanged in connection with such designated event) and as a result of such transaction or transactions the notes become convertible solely into such common stock.

For purposes of this designated event definition, voting stock means stock of the class or classes pursuant to which the holders thereof have the general voting power under ordinary circumstances to elect at least a majority of the board of directors, managers or trustees of a corporation (irrespective of whether or not at the time stock of any other class or classes shall have or might have voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency).

The definition of designated event includes a phrase relating to the conveyance, transfer, sale, lease or other disposition of all or substantially all of our assets. There is no precise, established definition of the phrase substantially all under the laws of the State of New York, which governs the indenture and the notes, or under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, our state of incorporation. Accordingly, a holder s ability to require us to repurchase its notes as a result of a conveyance, transfer, sale, lease or other disposition of less than all of our assets may be uncertain.

Pursuant to the indenture, we will:

comply with the provisions of Rule 13e-4 and Rule 14e-1, if applicable, under the Exchange Act;

file a Schedule TO or any successor or similar schedule if required under the Exchange Act; and

otherwise comply with all U.S. federal and state securities laws in connection with any offer by us to purchase the notes upon a designated event.

This designated event purchase feature may make more difficult or discourage a takeover of us and the removal of incumbent management. However, we are not aware of any specific effort to accumulate shares of our capital stock with the intent to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, solicitation or otherwise. In addition, the designated event purchase feature is not part of a plan by management to adopt a series of anti-takeover provisions. Instead, the designated event purchase feature is a result of negotiations between us and the initial purchaser.

We could, in the future, enter into certain transactions, including recapitalizations, that would not constitute a designated event but would increase the amount of debt outstanding or otherwise adversely affect a holder. Neither we nor our subsidiaries are prohibited under the indenture from incurring additional debt. The incurrence of significant amounts of additional debt could adversely affect our ability to service our debt, including the notes. See Risk Factors There are no restrictive covenants in the indenture relating to our ability to incur future indebtedness.

-35-

Table of Contents

If a designated event were to occur, we may not have sufficient funds to pay the designated event purchase price for the notes tendered by holders. In addition, we may in the future incur debt that has similar designated event provisions that permit holders of this debt to accelerate or require us to purchase this debt upon the occurrence of events similar to a designated event. Our failure to repurchase the notes upon a designated event will result in an event of default under the indenture.

Consolidation, Merger and Sales of Assets

The indenture provides that we may not consolidate with or merge into any other person or convey, transfer, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our properties and assets to another person unless, among other things:

the resulting, surviving or transferee person is organized and existing under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia (even if a subsidiary to a foreign entity);

such person assumes all of our obligations under the notes and the indenture under a supplemental indenture in a form reasonably satisfactory to the trustee;

no event of default exists and its continuing immediately before and after giving effect to such transaction; and

if a supplemental indenture is to be executed in connection with such consolidation, merger or disposition, we have delivered to the trustee an officers certificate and an opinion of counsel with respect thereto as provided for in the indenture.

Upon any such consolidation, merger or disposition in accordance with the foregoing, the successor corporation formed by such consolidation or share exchange or into which we are merged or which such person formed by such consolidation or share exchange or to which such conveyance, sale, lease, transfer or other disposition is made will succeed to, and be substituted for, and may exercise our right and power, under the indenture with the same effect as if such successor had been named as us in the indenture, and thereafter (except in the case of a lease) the predecessor corporation will be relieved of all further obligations and covenants under the indenture and the notes.

Events of Default

Each of the following constitutes an event of default under the indenture:

our failure to pay principal amount of the notes when due and payable, whether at maturity or upon acceleration;

our failure to pay any accrued unpaid interest (including additional amounts) on the notes, if any, when due and payable, and if such default continues for a period of 30 days;

our failure to convert notes upon exercise of a holder s conversion right in accordance with the terms of the indenture;

our failure to redeem notes after we have exercised our redemption option;

our failure to purchase all or any part of the notes in accordance with the provisions of Purchase of Notes at a Holder's Option or Purchase of Notes at a Holder's Option Upon a Designated Event

-36-

Table of Contents

our failure to provide notice in the event of a designated event;

our failure to perform or observe any other term, covenant or agreement contained in the notes or the indenture for a period of 60 calendar days after written notice of such failure, has been given to us by the trustee or to us and the trustee by the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding;

our default under any credit agreement, mortgage, indenture or instrument under which there may be issued or by which there may be secured or evidenced any indebtedness of us or any of our subsidiaries for money borrowed whether such indebtedness now exists, or is created after the date of the indenture, which default:

involves the failure to pay the principal of or any premium or interest on indebtedness in an amount in excess of \$7.5 million when such indebtedness becomes due and payable at the stated maturity thereof, and such default continues after any applicable grace period, or

results in the acceleration of such indebtedness prior to its stated maturity, and in each case, the principal amount of any such indebtedness, together with the principal amount of any other such indebtedness so unpaid at its stated maturity or the stated maturity of which has been so accelerated, aggregates \$10.0 million or more;

there is a failure by us or any of our subsidiaries to pay final judgments not covered by insurance aggregating in excess of \$7.5 million, which judgments are not paid, discharged or stayed for a period of 60 calendar days; and

certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or similar reorganization with respect to us or any of our significant subsidiaries. Pursuant to the indenture, the trustee shall, within 90 calendar days of the occurrence of a default known to the trustee (or within 15 calendar days after it is known to the trustee, if later), give to the registered holders of the notes notice of all uncured defaults known to it, but the trustee shall be protected in withholding such notice if it, in good faith, determines that the withholding of such notice is in the best interest of such registered holders, except in the case of a default under the first, second, fourth or fifth bullets above.

If certain events of default specified in the last bullet point above shall occur with respect to us and be continuing, then automatically the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, through such date shall become immediately due and payable. If any other event of default shall occur and be continuing (the default not having been cured or waived as provided under Modification and Waiver below), the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding may declare the notes due and payable at the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional amounts), if any, and thereupon the trustee may, at its discretion, proceed to protect and enforce the rights of the holders of notes by appropriate judicial proceedings. Such declaration accelerating the notes and the amounts due thereunder may be rescinded or annulled with the written consent of the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding upon the conditions provided in the indenture.

The indenture contains a provision entitling the trustee, subject to the duty of the trustee during default to act with the required standard of care, to be indemnified by the holders of notes before proceeding to exercise any right or power under the indenture at the request of such holders.

-37-

Table of Contents

The indenture provides that the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding, through their written consent, may direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the trustee or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the trustee.

Except with respect to a default in the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or any accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, on any note, redemption price or designated event purchase price of any note, or in respect of a failure to convert any note into common stock as required, or in respect of a covenant or provision which under the indenture cannot be modified or amended without the consent of the holders of all the notes waive any past default under the indenture and rescind any acceleration with respect to the notes and its consequences if (1) rescission would not conflict with any judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction and (2) all existing events of default, other than the nonpayment of the principal of and interest on the notes that have become due solely by such declaration of acceleration, have been cured or waived.

We are required to furnish annually to the trustee a statement as to the fulfillment of our obligations under the indenture and as to any default in the performance of such obligations.

Modification and Waiver

Changes Requiring Approval of Each Affected Holder

The indenture (including the terms and conditions of the notes) cannot be modified or amended without the written consent or the affirmative vote of the holder of each note affected by such change (in addition to the written consent or the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes at the time outstanding) to:

change the maturity of any note or the payment date of any installment of interest or additional amounts, if any, payable on any notes;

reduce the principal amount, redemption price or purchase price of, or interest (including additional amounts), if any, on, any note;

change the currency of payment of principal, redemption price or purchase price of, or interest (including additional amounts), if any, on, any note;

impair or adversely affect the manner of calculation or rate of accrual of interest (including additional amounts), if any, on any note;

impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on or conversion of, any note;

impair or adversely affect the conversion rights or purchase rights of any holders of notes;

modify the redemption provisions of the indenture in a manner adverse to the holders of notes;

reduce the percentage in aggregate principal amount of notes outstanding necessary to modify or amend the indenture; or

-38-

Table of Contents

reduce the percentage in aggregate principal amount of notes outstanding necessary to waive past defaults. *Changes Requiring Majority Approval*

The indenture (including the terms and conditions of the notes) may be modified or amended, subject to the provisions described above, with the written consent of the holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes at the time outstanding.

Changes Requiring No Approval

The indenture (including the terms and conditions of the notes) may be modified or amended by us and the trustee, without the consent of the holder of any note, to, among other things:

add to our covenants for the benefit of the holders of notes;

surrender any right or power conferred upon us;

provide for conversion rights of holders of notes if any reclassification or change of our common stock or any consolidation, merger or sale of all or substantially all of our assets occurs;

provide for the assumption of our obligations to the holders of notes in the case of a merger, consolidation, conveyance, transfer, sale, lease or other disposition;

increase the conversion rate, provided that the increase will not adversely affect the interests of the holders of notes;

comply with the requirements of the SEC in order to effect or maintain the qualification of the indenture under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended;

make any changes or modifications necessary in connection with the registration of the notes under the Securities Act as contemplated in the registration rights agreement; provided that such change or modification does not, in the good faith opinion of our board of directors, adversely affect the interests of the holders of notes in any material respect;

cure any ambiguity or correct or supplement any inconsistent or otherwise defective provision contained in the indenture or make any other provision with respect to matters or questions arising under the indenture which we may deem necessary or desirable and which shall not be inconsistent with provisions of the indenture; provided that such modification or amendment does not, in the good faith opinion of our board of directors, adversely affect the interests of the holders of notes in any material respect;

to evidence the succession of another person to us or any other obligor upon the notes, and the assumption by any such successor of the covenant of us or such other obligor under the indenture and in the notes, in each case in compliance with the provisions of the indenture;

to evidence and provide the acceptance of the appointment of a successor trustee under the indenture; or

-39-

Table of Contents

add or modify any other provisions with respect to matters or questions arising under the indenture which we and the trustee may deem necessary or desirable and which will not adversely affect the interests of the holders of notes.

Waiver

The holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes outstanding may waive compliance with certain provisions of the indenture relating to the notes, unless (1) we fail to pay principal or interest (including additional amounts), if any, or on any note when due, (2) we fail to convert any note into common stock as required by the indenture, or (3) we fail to comply with any of the provisions of the indenture that would require the consent of the holder of each outstanding note.

Any notes held by us or by any person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with us shall be disregarded (from both the numerator and denominator) for purposes of determining whether the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding notes have consented to a modification, amendment or waiver of the terms of the indenture.

Registration Rights

Registration of the Notes

We have entered into a registration rights agreement with the initial purchaser. Pursuant to the agreement, we have agreed, at our expense:

- 1. to file with the SEC not later than the date 90 calendar days after the first date of original issuance of the notes this shelf registration statement covering resales by the holders of all notes who complete and deliver the selling securityholder election and questionnaire described in the offering memorandum;
- 2. to use our reasonable best efforts to cause this shelf registration statement to be declared effective by the SEC as promptly as is practicable, but in no event later than 210 calendar days after the first date of original issuance of the notes; and
- 3. to use our reasonable best efforts to keep this shelf registration statement effective until the earliest of:

two years after the last date of original issuance of any of the notes;

the date on which the holders of the notes and common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes that are not affiliates of Concord are able to sell all such securities immediately without restriction in accordance with provisions of Rule 144(k) under the Securities Act;

the date when all of the notes and common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes of those holders that complete and deliver the selling securityholder election and questionnaire described in the offering memorandum are registered under this shelf registration statement and disposed of in accordance with such shelf registration statement; and

-40-

Table of Contents

the date when all of the notes and common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes have ceased to be outstanding (whether as a result of repurchase and cancellation, conversion or otherwise).

Not less than 30 calendar days prior to the effectiveness of this shelf registration statement, we mailed a notice of registration statement and selling securityholder election and questionnaire, in substantially the form attached as Appendix A to the offering memorandum, to each holder of notes to obtain certain information regarding the holder for inclusion in the prospectus. We have named in this shelf registration statement, as a selling securityholder, each holder of notes that has returned to us a completed and signed election and questionnaire within 20 calendar days of receipt thereof.

After effectiveness of this shelf registration statement, upon our receipt of a completed and signed election and questionnaire from a holder of notes, we will prepare and file (a) a prospectus supplement as soon as practicable or (b) if required, a post-effective amendment to this shelf registration statement or an additional shelf registration statement as soon as reasonably practicable after the end of each fiscal quarter. Accordingly, each holder of notes that submits a completed and signed election and questionnaire after the initial deadline may be named as a selling securityholder in the registration statement and may deliver a prospectus in connection with the resale of such holder s note(s).

We cannot assure the holders of the notes that we will be able to maintain this registration statement as effective and current. The absence of a registration statement may limit the holders ability to sell such notes or adversely affect the price at which such securities can be sold.

We will:

provide to each holder of notes named in this shelf registration statement, copies of the prospectus that is a part of this shelf registration statement;

notify each such holder when this shelf registration statement has become effective; and

take certain other actions as are required to permit unrestricted resales of the notes. Each holder who sells securities pursuant to this shelf registration statement generally will be:

required to be named as a selling securityholder in the related prospectus;

required to deliver a prospectus to the purchaser;

subject to certain of the civil liability provisions under the Securities Act in connection with the holder s sales; and

bound by the provisions of the registration rights agreement that are applicable to the holder of notes (including certain indemnification rights and obligations).

We may suspend use of this prospectus by the holders of notes for a period not to exceed 45 calendar days (subject, in certain circumstances to an extension to 60 days) in any 90 calendar day period, and not to exceed an aggregate of 120 calendar days in any 360 calendar day period, if:

the prospectus would, in our judgment, contain a material misstatement or omission as a result of an event that has occurred and is continuing; and

Table of Contents

we determine in good faith that the disclosure of this material non-public information would have a material adverse effect on us and our subsidiaries taken as a whole.

However, if the disclosure relates to a previously undisclosed proposed or pending material business transaction, the disclosure of which would impede our ability to consummate such transaction, we may extend the suspension period from 45 calendar days to 60 calendar days. We need not specify the nature of the event giving rise to a suspension in any notice to holders of the notes of the existence of such a suspension.

Upon the resale of notes, each selling securityholder will be required to deliver a notice of such sale, in substantially the form attached as Exhibit 1 to Annex A to the offering memorandum, to the trustee and us. The notice will, among other things:

identify the sale as a transfer pursuant to this shelf registration statement;

certify that the prospectus delivery requirements, if any, of the Securities Act have been complied with; and

certify that the selling securityholder and the aggregate principal amount of the notes owned by such holder are identified in the related prospectus in accordance with the applicable rules and regulations under the Securities Act.

If:

this shelf registration statement was not filed with the SEC on or prior to 90 calendar days after the first date of original issuance of the notes;

this shelf registration statement has not been declared effective by the SEC on or prior to 210 calendar days after the first date of original issuance of the notes;

this shelf registration statement is filed and declared effective but thereafter ceases to be effective or usable in connection with resales of notes and we do not cause this shelf registration statement to become effective or usable within five business days by filing a post-effective amendment, prospectus supplement or report pursuant to the Exchange Act;

if applicable, we do not terminate the suspension period by the 45th or 60th calendar day, as the case may be, or suspension periods collectively exceed an aggregate of 120 calendar days in any 360 calendar day period; or

subsequent to the effectiveness of this registration statement, we shall fail to comply with our obligation to name in the prospectus, as a selling securityholder, a holder of notes who has returned a completed and signed election and questionnaire;

each such event referred to in the bullet points above being referred to as a registration default, then additional interest will accrue on the notes from and including the calendar day following the registration default to but excluding the earlier of (1) the calendar day on which all registration defaults have been cured and (2) the date of the shelf registration statement is no longer required to be kept effective. Additional interest will be paid semi-annually in arrears, with the first semi-annual payment due on the first interest payment date following the date on which such additional interest begins to accrue, and will accrue on the notes at a rate per year equal to 0.25% for the first 90 calendar day period and to 0.50% thereafter of the principal amount of such notes.

-42-

Table of Contents

While holders of notes have the right to specifically enforce our registration obligations, we will have no other liability for monetary damages with respect to any of our registration obligations.

If this shelf registration statement covering the resales of the notes is not effective, the notes may not be sold or otherwise transferred except in accordance with the provisions set forth under Transfer Restrictions.

Registration of the Common Stock Issuable Upon Conversion of the Notes

Pursuant to the registration rights agreement, we have agreed, at our expense:

- 1. to file with the SEC not later than the date 90 calendar days after the first date of original issuance of the notes this shelf registration statement covering resales by the holders of the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes who complete and deliver the selling securityholder election and questionnaire described in the offering memorandum;
- 2. to use our reasonable best efforts to cause this shelf registration statement to be declared effective by the SEC as promptly as is practicable, but in no event later than 210 calendar days after the first date of original issuance of the notes; and
- 3. to use our reasonable best efforts to keep this shelf registration statement effective until the earliest of:

two years after the last date of original issuance of any of the notes;

the date on which the holders of the notes and common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes that are not affiliates of Concord are able to sell all such securities immediately without restriction in accordance with provisions of Rule 144(k) under the Securities Act;

the date when all of the notes and common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes of those holders that complete and deliver the selling securityholder election and questionnaire described in the offering memorandum are registered under this shelf registration statement and disposed of in accordance with such shelf registration statement; and

the date when all of the notes and common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes have ceased to be outstanding (whether as a result of repurchase and cancellation, conversion or otherwise).

Not less than 30 calendar days prior to the effectiveness of this initial shelf registration statement, we mailed a notice of registration statement and selling securityholder election and questionnaire, in substantially the form attached as Appendix A to the offering memorandum, to each holder of common stock issued upon conversion of notes to obtain certain information regarding such holder for inclusion in the prospectus. We have named in this shelf registration statement, as a selling securityholder, each holder of common stock issued upon conversion of notes that has returned to us a completed and signed election and questionnaire within 20 calendar days of receipt thereof.

After effectiveness of this initial shelf registration statement, upon our receipt of a completed and signed election and questionnaire from a holder of common stock issued upon conversion of notes, we

-43-

Table of Contents

will prepare and file (a) a prospectus supplement as soon as practicable or (b) if required, a post-effective amendment to this shelf registration statement or an additional shelf registration statement as soon as reasonably practicable after the end of each fiscal quarter. Accordingly, each holder of common stock issued upon conversion of notes that submits a completed and signed election and questionnaire after the initial deadline may be named as a selling securityholder in the registration statement and may deliver a prospectus in connection with common stock issued upon conversion of the notes.

We cannot assure the holders of common stock issued upon conversion of notes that we will be able to maintain this registration statement as effective and current. The absence of a registration statement may limit such holders ability to sell such shares of common stock issued upon conversion of notes or adversely affect the price at which such securities can be sold.

We will:

provide to each holder of common stock issued upon conversion of notes named in this shelf registration statement copies of the prospectus that is a part of this shelf registration statement;

notify each such holder when a shelf registration statement has become effective; and

take certain other actions as are required to permit unrestricted resales of the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes. Each holder of common stock issued upon conversion of notes who sells securities pursuant to this shelf registration statement generally will be:

required to be named as a selling securityholder in the related prospectus;

required to deliver a prospectus to the purchaser;

subject to certain of the civil liability provisions under the Securities Act in connection with such holder s sales; and

bound by the provisions of the registration rights agreement that are applicable to such holder (including certain indemnification rights and obligations).

We may suspend the use of this prospectus by holders of common stock issued upon conversion of notes for a period not to exceed 45 calendar days (subject, in certain circumstances to an extension to 60 days) in any 90 calendar day period, and not to exceed an aggregate of 120 calendar days in any 360 calendar day period, if:

the prospectus would, in our judgment, contain a material misstatement or omission as a result of an event that has occurred and is continuing; and

we determine in good faith that the disclosure of this material non-public information would have a material adverse effect on us and our subsidiaries taken as a whole.

However, if the disclosure relates to a previously undisclosed proposed or pending material business transaction, the disclosure of which would impede our ability to consummate such transaction, we may extend the suspension period from 45 calendar days to 60 calendar days. We need

Table of Contents

not specify the nature of the event giving rise to a suspension in any notice to holders of common stock issued upon conversion of notes of the existence of such a suspension.

Upon the resale of the common stock issued upon conversion of the notes, each selling securityholder will be required to deliver a notice of such sale, in substantially the form attached as Exhibit 1 to Annex A to the offering memorandum, to the trustee and us. The notice will, among other things:

identify the sale as a transfer pursuant to this shelf registration statement;

certify that the prospectus delivery requirements, if any, of the Securities Act have been complied with; and

certify that the selling securityholder and the number of shares of our common stock owned by such holder are identified in the related prospectus in accordance with the applicable rules and regulations under the Securities Act.

If:

this shelf registration statement was not filed with the SEC on or prior to 90 calendar days after the first date of original issuance of the notes;

this shelf registration statement has not been declared effective by the SEC on or prior to 210 calendar days after the first date of original issuance of the notes;

this shelf registration statement is filed and declared effective but thereafter ceases to be effective or usable in connection with resales of the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes and we do not cause this shelf registration statement to become effective or usable within five business days by filing a post-effective amendment, prospectus supplement or report pursuant to the Exchange Act;

if applicable, we do not terminate the suspension period by the 45th or 60th calendar day, as the case may be, or suspension periods collectively exceed an aggregate of 120 calendar days in any 360 calendar day period; or

subsequent to the effectiveness of this registration statement, we shall fail to comply with our obligation to name in the prospectus, as a selling securityholder, a holder of common stock issued upon conversion of the notes who has returned a completed and signed election and questionnaire;

each such event referred to in the bullet points above being referred to as a registration default. If a holder of notes converts some or all of its notes into common stock during a period of registration default, the holder will receive 103% of the number of shares of our common stock the holder would have received upon conversion but for this provision (except to the extent we elect to deliver cash upon conversion). In this circumstance, the holder will not be entitled to receive additional interest on the notes that convert into common stock but holders of common stock issued upon conversion of notes will have the right to specifically enforce our registration obligations.

If this shelf registration statement covering the resales of the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes is not declared or maintained effective, such common stock may not be sold or otherwise transferred except in accordance with the provisions set forth under Transfer Restrictions.

Form, Denomination and Registration

Denomination and Registration

The notes are issued in fully registered form, without coupons, in denominations of \$1,000 principal amount and integral multiples thereof.

Global Notes

The notes are evidenced by one or more global notes deposited with the trustee as custodian for DTC, and registered in the name of Cede & Co. as DTC s nominee.

Record ownership of the global notes may be transferred, in whole or in part, only to another nominee of DTC or to a successor of DTC or its nominee, except as set forth below. A holder may hold its interests in the global notes directly through DTC if such holder is a participant in DTC, or indirectly through organizations which are direct DTC participants if such holder is not a participant in DTC. Transfers between direct DTC participants will be effected in the ordinary way in accordance with DTC s rules and will be settled in same-day funds. Holders may also beneficially own interests in the global notes held by DTC through certain banks, brokers, dealers, trust companies and other parties that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a direct DTC participant, either directly or indirectly.

So long as Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, is the registered owner of the global notes, Cede & Co. for all purposes will be considered the sole holder of the global notes. Except as provided below, owners of beneficial interests in the global notes:

will not be entitled to have certificates registered in their names;

will not receive or be entitled to receive physical delivery of certificates in definitive form; and

will not be considered holders of the global notes.

The laws of some states require that certain persons take physical delivery of securities in definitive form. Consequently, the ability of an owner of a beneficial interest in a global security to transfer the beneficial interest in the global security to such persons may be limited.

We will wire, through the facilities of the trustee, payments of principal, accrued interest (including additional amounts), if any, on the global notes to Cede & Co., the nominee of DTC, as the registered owner of the global notes. None of the Company, the trustee or any paying agent will have any responsibility or be liable for paying amounts due on the global notes to owners of beneficial interests in the global notes.

It is DTC s current practice, upon receipt of any payment of principal, accrued interest (including additional amounts), if any, on the global notes, to credit participants accounts on the payment date in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the notes represented by the global notes, as shown on the records of DTC, unless DTC believes that it will not receive payment on the payment date. Payments by DTC participants to owners of beneficial interests in notes represented by the global notes held through DTC participants will be the responsibility of DTC participants, as is now the case with securities held for the accounts of customers registered in street name.

-46-

Table of Contents

If a holder would like to convert its notes pursuant to the terms of the notes, the holder should contact its broker or other direct or indirect DTC participant to obtain information on procedures, including proper forms and cut-off times, for submitting those requests.

Because DTC can only act on behalf of DTC participants, who in turn act on behalf of indirect DTC participants and other banks, a holder s ability to pledge its interest in the notes represented by global notes to persons or entities that do not participate in the DTC system, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interest, may be affected by the lack of a physical certificate.

DTC has advised us that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of notes, including, without limitation, the presentation of notes for conversion as described below, only at the direction of one or more direct DTC participants to whose account with DTC interests in the global notes are credited and only for the principal amount of the notes for which directions have been given.

DTC has advised us that DTC is:

a limited purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New York;

a member of the Federal Reserve System;

a clearing corporation within the meaning of the Uniform Commercial Code; and

a clearing agency registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act.

DTC was created to hold securities for DTC participants and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between DTC participants through electronic book-entry changes to the accounts of its participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates. DTC participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations and may include certain other organizations, such as the initial purchaser of the notes. Certain DTC participants or their representatives, together with other entities, own DTC. Indirect access to the DTC system is available to others such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through, or maintain a custodial relationship with, a participant, either directly or indirectly.

Although DTC has agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of interests in the global notes among DTC participants, it is under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. If (a) DTC is at any time unwilling or unable to continue as depositary or if at any time ceases to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act and a successor depositary is not appointed by us within 90 days or (b) an event of default under the indenture occurs and is continuing and the registrar has received a request from DTC that the notes be issued in definitive registered form, we will cause notes to be issued in definitive registered form in exchange for the global notes. None of Concord, the trustee or any of their respective agents will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC or direct or indirect DTC participants of their obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations, including maintaining, supervising or reviewing the records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in global notes.

According to DTC, the foregoing information with respect to DTC has been provided to its participants and other members of the financial community for information purposes only and is not intended to serve as a representation, warranty or contract modification of any kind.

-47-

Transfer and Exchange

A holder may transfer or exchange the notes in accordance with the indenture. No service charge will be made for any registration of transfer or exchange of notes, but we may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax, assessment or other governmental charge payable in connection therewith. We are not required to transfer or exchange any note in respect of which a designated event purchase notice has been given and not withdrawn by the holder thereof.

Restrictions on Transfer; Legends

The notes and the shares of common stock which are issued upon conversion of the notes will be subject to certain restrictions on transfer set forth on the notes and in the indenture and on the share certificates, and certificates evidencing the notes and shares of common stock will bear the legend regarding such transfer restrictions set forth under Transfer Restrictions.

Satisfaction and Discharge

We may satisfy and discharge our obligations under the indenture by delivering to the trustee for cancellation all outstanding notes or by depositing with the paying agent or the conversion agent, as the case may be, after the notes have become due and payable, whether at maturity, any redemption date, any purchase date, or upon conversion or otherwise, cash or common stock (as applicable under the terms of the indenture) sufficient to pay all of the outstanding notes and paying all other sums payable under the indenture. Such discharge is subject to terms contained in the indenture.

Governing Law

The indenture and the notes will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.

Trustee, Transfer Agent and Registrar

Wilmington Trust Company, as trustee, has been appointed by us as paying agent, conversion agent, registrar and custodian with regard to the notes. Wilmington Trust Company or its affiliates may from time to time in the future provide banking and other services to us in exchange for a fee.

EquiServe, LLP is the transfer agent and registrar for our common stock.

Calculations in Respect of Notes

Except as otherwise provided herein, we or our agents will be responsible for making all calculations called for under the notes. These calculations include, but are not limited to, determination of the market price of our common stock. We or our agents will make all these calculations in good faith and, absent manifest error, our and their calculations will be final and binding on holders of notes. We or our agents will provide a schedule of these calculations to the trustee, and the trustee is entitled to conclusively rely upon the accuracy of these calculations without independent verification.

Repurchase and Cancellation of Notes

We may, to the extent permitted by law, repurchase notes in the open market or by tender offer at any price or by private agreement. Any notes purchased by us, to the extent permitted by law, may be



reissued or resold or may, at our option, be surrendered to the trustee for cancellation. Any notes surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and will be promptly cancelled.

All notes surrendered for payment, redemption, registration of transfer or exchange or conversion shall, if surrendered to any person other than the trustee, be delivered to the trustee. All notes delivered to the trustee shall be cancelled promptly by the trustee. No notes shall be authenticated in exchange for any notes cancelled as provided in the indenture.

Replacement of Notes

We will replace mutilated, destroyed, stolen or lost notes at expense of the holder upon delivery to the trustee of the mutilated notes, or evidence of the loss, theft or destruction of the notes satisfactory to us and the trustee. In the case of a lost, stolen or destroyed note, indemnity satisfactory to the trustee and us may be required at the expense of the holder of such note before a replacement note will be issued.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

General

We are authorized to issue 50,000,000 shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$.01 per share. As of July 16, 2004, 18,301,978 shares of our common stock were outstanding and owned of record by 296 persons, and no shares of our preferred stock were outstanding.

Common Stock

Holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share on all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders, including the election of directors. Our Restated Articles of Organization (the Articles) do not provide for cumulative voting. Accordingly, holders of a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote in any election of directors may elect all of the directors standing for election if they choose to do so. Holders of common stock will be entitled to receive ratably dividends, if any, as may be declared from time to time by our Board of Directors out of funds legally available therefor, subject to any preferential dividend rights of outstanding shares of preferred stock, if any. Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the holders of common stock will be entitled to receive ratably all of our assets available for distribution to them upon liquidation, subject to the prior rights of any outstanding shares of our common stock are, and all shares of our common stock that may be issued upon conversion of the notes offered, upon issuance, will be, fully paid and nonassessable. The rights, preferences and privileges of holders of common stock are subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of shares of any series of preferred stock that we may designate and issue in the future.

Preferred Stock

The Articles currently provide that our Board of Directors is authorized, subject to certain limitations prescribed by law, without further approval by our stockholders, to issue from time to time upon the terms and conditions it may determine up to an aggregate of 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to fix or alter the designations, preferences, rights and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions of the shares of each such series thereof, including the dividend rights, dividend rates, conversion rates, voting rights, terms of redemption (including sinking fund provisions), redemption price or prices, liquidation preferences and the number of shares constituting any series or designations of such series. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could, among other things, adversely affect the voting power of the holders of the common stock. Under certain circumstances, the issuance of preferred stock could also make it more difficult for a third party to gain control of us, discourage bids for the common stock at a premium or otherwise adversely affect the market price of our common stock. We do not currently have any shares of preferred stock outstanding.

Massachusetts Law and Certain Provisions of Our Articles and By-Laws

We are subject to the provisions of Chapter 110F of the Massachusetts General Laws, the so-called Business Combination Statute. Under Chapter 110F, a Massachusetts corporation with at least 200 stockholders may not engage in a business combination with any interested stockholder for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person becomes an interested stockholder, unless (1) prior to such date, the Board of Directors approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, (2)



Table of Contents

the interested stockholder acquires at least 90% of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation (excluding shares held by certain of our affiliates) at the time it becomes an interested stockholder, or (3) on or subsequent to such date, the business combination is approved by both the Board of Directors and the holders of at least two-thirds of our issued and outstanding common stock (excluding shares held by the interested stockholder). An interested stockholder is a person who, together with its affiliates and associates, owns 5% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation or is an affiliate of the corporation and owned, at any time within the prior three years, 5% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation. A business combination includes a merger, a stock or assets sale, and other transactions resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. A majority of our stockholders may elect not to be governed by Chapter 110F of the Massachusetts General Laws, but such an amendment would not be effective on us for a period of twelve months and would not apply to any business combination with any person who became an interested stockholder prior to the adoption of the amendment.

Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 156B, Section 50A generally requires that we, as a publicly-held Massachusetts corporation, have a classified board of directors consisting of three classes as nearly equal in size as possible, unless we opt out of the statute s coverage. We have opted out of the statute s coverage, but our Articles do contain provisions which give effect to Section 50A.

Our Restated By-Laws (the By-Laws) include a provision excluding us from the applicability of Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 110D. In general, this statute provides that any of our stockholders who are subject to this statute and who acquire 20% or more of our issued and outstanding voting stock may not vote such stock unless our stockholders so authorize. The Board of Directors may amend our By-Laws at any time to subject us to this statute prospectively.

The Articles require that nominations for the Board of Directors made by a stockholder comply with certain notice procedures. A notice by a stockholder of a planned nomination must be given not less than 60 and not more than 90 days prior to a scheduled meeting, provided that if less than 70 days notice is given of the date of the meeting, a stockholder will have ten days within which to give such notice. The stockholder s notice of nomination must include particular information about the stockholder, the nominee and any beneficial owner on whose behalf the nomination is made. We may require any proposed nominee to provide such additional information as is reasonably required to determine the eligibility of the proposed nominee. The By-Laws also require that a stockholder seeking to have any business conducted at a meeting of stockholders give us notice not less than 60 and not more than 90 days prior to the scheduled meeting, provided in certain circumstances that a ten-day notice rule applies. The notice from the stockholder must describe the proposed business to be brought before the meeting and include information about the stockholder making the proposal, any beneficial owner on whose behalf the proposal is made, and any other stockholder known to be supporting the proposal. The By-Laws require us to call a special stockholders meeting at the request of stockholders holding at least 40% of our issued and outstanding voting stock. The Articles and the By-Laws provide that our directors and officers shall be indemnified by us to the fullest extent authorized by Massachusetts law, as it now exists or may in the future be amended, against all expenses and liabilities reasonably incurred in connection with service for or on our behalf. Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to our directors, officers and controlling persons pursuant to the By-Laws, in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore unenforceable. We have obtained insurance which insures our directors and officers against certain losses and which insures us against certain of our obligations to indemnify such directors and officers. In addition, the Articles provide that our directors will not be personally liable for monetary damages to us for breaches of their fiduciary duty as directors, unless they violated their duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders, acted in bad faith, knowingly or intentionally violated the law, authorized illegal dividends or redemptions or derived an improper personal benefit from their action as directors. Such limitations of personal liability under the

-51-

Table of Contents

Massachusetts Business Corporation Law do not apply to liabilities arising out of certain violations of the U.S. federal securities laws. While non-monetary relief such as injunctive relief, specific performance and other equitable remedies may be available to us, such relief may be difficult to obtain or, if obtained, may not adequately compensate use for our damages. The Articles provide that any amendment to the Articles, the sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of our property and assets, or our merger or consolidation into or with any other corporation may be authorized by the approval of the holders of a majority of the shares of each class of stock entitled to vote thereon, rather than by two-thirds as otherwise provided by statute, so long as the transactions have been authorized by a majority of the members of the Board of Directors and the requirements of any other applicable provisions of the Articles have been met. In addition, the Articles provide that shares of our preferred stock may be issued in the future without stockholder approval and upon such terms and conditions, and having such rights, privileges and preferences, as the Board of Directors may determine. See Description of Capital Stock Preferred Stock .

The transfer agent for our common stock is EquiServe, LLP, Canton, Massachusetts.

Table of Contents

CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following are certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of ownership and disposition of the notes and of the common stock into which the notes may be converted under certain circumstances. This discussion applies only to the notes:

purchased by the holders who purchase notes from the initial purchaser at the issue price, (the first price to the public); and

held as capital assets.

This discussion does not describe all of the tax consequences that may be relevant to a holder in light of his particular circumstances or to holders subject to special rules, such as:

certain financial institutions;

insurance companies;

dealers in securities or foreign currencies;

persons holding notes as part of a hedge, straddle or conversion transaction;

U.S. Holders (as defined below) whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar;

partnerships or other entities classified as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes; and

persons subject to the alternative minimum tax.

This summary is based on the Code, administrative pronouncements, judicial decisions and final, temporary and proposed Treasury Regulations, changes to any of which subsequent to the date of this Prospectus may affect the tax consequences described herein. Persons considering the purchase of notes are urged to consult their tax advisors with regard to the application of the U.S. federal income tax laws to their particular situations. This summary does not discuss the possible consequences of non-income taxes (such as estate tax) or of any state, local, foreign, or other income tax laws.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to U.S. Holders

As used herein, the term U.S. Holder means a beneficial owner of a note that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

a citizen or resident of the United States;

a corporation, or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or of any political subdivision thereof;

an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or

a trust that is subject to the primary supervision of a court within the United States and all substantial decisions of which are controlled by one or more United States persons, as

-53-

Table of Contents

defined in Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code, or any other trust that has properly elected under applicable Treasury Regulations to be treated as a United States person.

The term U.S. Holder also includes certain former citizens and residents of the United States.

Payments of Interest

The notes were issued without original issue discount for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, interest paid on a note will be taxable to a U.S. Holder as ordinary interest income at the time it accrues or is received in accordance with the Holder s method of accounting for federal income tax purposes.

If, however, the stated redemption price at maturity of the notes (generally, the sum of all payments required under the note other than payments of stated interest) exceeds their issue price by more than a de minimis amount, a U.S. Holder will be required to include such excess in gross income as original issue discount, as it accrues, in accordance with a constant-yield method based on a compounding of interest, prior to the receipt of cash payments attributable to this income.

We may be required to pay additional interest in the event of a registration default. See Description of Notes Registration Rights. Although the matter is not free from doubt, we intend to take the position that the payment of additional amounts is a remote or incidental contingency and that these additional amounts should be taxable as ordinary interest income at the time they are received or accrued, in accordance with the U.S. Holder s regular method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes. It is possible, however, that the Internal Revenue Service (the IRS) may take a different position, in which case a U.S. Holder might recognize income at different times and in different amounts than would otherwise be the case.

Sale, Exchange, Redemption or Retirement of the Notes

Upon the sale, exchange, redemption or retirement of a note (other than a conversion into common stock), a U.S. Holder will recognize taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized on the sale, exchange, redemption or retirement and the Holder s adjusted tax basis in the note. For these purposes, the amount realized does not include any amount attributable to accrued and unpaid interest. Amounts attributable to accrued and unpaid interest are treated as interest. Gain or loss realized on the sale, exchange, redemption or retirement of a note will generally be capital gain or loss and will be long-term capital gain or loss if at the time of sale, exchange, redemption or retirement the note has been held for more than one year. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

Conversion Into Common Stock

A U.S. Holder s conversion of a note into common stock will not be a taxable event, except that the receipt of cash in lieu of a fractional share of common stock will result in capital gain or loss (measured by the difference between the cash received in lieu of the fractional share and the U.S. Holder s tax basis attributable to the fractional share, as described in the next paragraph), and the fair market value of common stock received with respect to accrued and unpaid interest will be taxed as a payment of interest.

A U.S. Holder s tax basis in common stock received upon a conversion of a note will be the same as the U.S. Holder s basis in the note at the time of conversion, reduced by any basis allocated to a fractional share and increased, for a cash method U.S. Holder, by the amount of income recognized



Table of Contents

with respect to accrued interest. The U.S. Holder s holding period for the common stock received will include the Holder s holding period for the note converted, except that the holding period of any common stock received with respect to accrued and unpaid Interest will commence on the day after the date of conversion.

Constructive Dividends

The conversion price of the notes is subject to adjustment under certain circumstances. Under Section 305 of the Code, adjustments to the conversion price that increase a U.S. Holder s proportionate share of our assets or earnings may in certain circumstances result in a constructive dividend that would be taxable to such U.S. Holder to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits, as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles. Generally, an increase in the conversion ratio pursuant to a bona-fide reasonable formula that has the effect of preventing the dilution of the interest of U.S. Holders in the notes will not be considered to result in a constructive dividend. Certain adjustments provided in the notes, however, will not qualify as being pursuant to a reasonable formula (including, without limitation, adjustments to the conversion price of the notes in connection with dividends to our stockholders). If such adjustments are made, a U.S. Holder will, to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits, be deemed to have received a constructive dividend even though such U.S. Holder has not received any cash or property as a result of the adjustment. In addition, a failure to adjust the conversion price of the notes to reflect a stock dividend or similar event could in some circumstances give rise to a constructive dividend to U.S. Holders of common stock.

Dividends on Common Stock

Generally, a distribution by us with respect to our common stock will be treated as a taxable dividend to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits (as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles). To the extent that the amount of a distribution exceeds our current and accumulated earnings and profits, the excess will constitute a tax-free return of capital to the extent of a U.S. Holder s tax basis in the common stock, and thereafter as gain from the sale or exchange of such common stock. Certain U.S. Holders (including individuals) may qualify for preferential rates of U.S. federal income taxation in respect of dividend income. U.S. Holders that are corporations may be eligible for a dividend-received deduction in respect of a dividend distribution by us.

Sale or Other Taxable Dispositions of Common Stock

Upon the sale or other taxable disposition of our common stock, a U.S. Holder generally will recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between (i) the amount of cash and the fair market value of any property received upon the sale or exchange, and (ii) such U.S. Holder s adjusted tax basis in the common stock. Such gain or loss generally will be capital gain or loss, and will be long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. Holder s holding period is more than one year at the time of sale or disposition. Certain U.S. Holders (including individuals) can qualify for preferential rates of U.S. federal income taxation in respect of long-term capital gains.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Information returns will be filed with the IRS in connection with payments on the notes and the proceeds from a sale or other disposition of the notes. A U.S. Holder will be subject to U.S. backup withholding tax on these payments if the U.S. Holder fails to provide its taxpayer identification number to the paying agent and to comply with certain certification procedures or otherwise to establish an exemption from backup withholding. The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to a U.S.

-55-

Table of Contents

Holder will be allowed as a credit against the U.S. Holder s U.S. federal income tax liability and may entitle the U.S. Holder to a refund, provided that the required information is timely furnished to the IRS.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to Non-U.S. Holders As used herein, the term Non-U.S. Holder means a beneficial owner of a note that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

an individual who is classified as a nonresident alien for U.S. federal income tax purposes;

a foreign corporation; or

a foreign estate or trust.

Non-U.S. Holder does not include an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more during a calendar year but is not otherwise a resident of the United States for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Such an individual is urged to consult his or her own tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the sale, exchange or other disposition of the notes or common stock.

Payments on the Notes

Subject to the discussion below concerning backup withholding, payments of principal and interest (including original issue discount, if any) on the notes by us or any paying agent to any Non-U.S. Holder will not be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax, provided that, in the case of interest:

the Holder does not own, actually or constructively, 10 percent or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of Concord entitled to vote and is not a controlled foreign corporation, as defined in the Code, related, directly or indirectly, to Concord through stock ownership; and

the certification requirement described below has been fulfilled with respect to the beneficial owner, as discussed below. *Certification Requirement*

Interest with respect to a note will not be exempt from withholding tax unless the beneficial owner of the note certifies on IRS Form W-8BEN, under penalties of perjury, that it is not a U.S. person.

If a Non-U.S. Holder of a note is engaged in a trade or business in the United States, and if interest on the note is effectively connected with the conduct of this trade or business, the Non-U.S. Holder, although exempt from the withholding tax discussed in the preceding paragraphs, will generally be taxed in the same manner as a U.S. Holder (see Tax Consequences to U.S. Holders above), except that the Holder will be required to provide a properly executed IRS Form W-8ECI in order to claim an exemption from withholding tax. These holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors with respect to other U.S. tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of notes, including, in the case of corporations, the possible imposition of a 30% (or lower applicable treaty rate) branch profits tax.

-56-

Table of Contents

Payments of interest on the notes that do not meet the foregoing requirements generally will be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax at a rate of 30% (or a lower applicable treaty rate, provided certain certification requirements are met).

Sale, Exchange or Other Disposition of Notes or Shares of Common Stock

Subject to the discussion below concerning backup withholding, a Non-U.S. Holder generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax (or any withholding thereof) on gain realized on a sale or other disposition of notes or common stock, unless:

the gain is effectively connected with a trade or business of the Non-U.S. Holder in the United States; or

Concord is or has been a U.S. real property holding corporation, as defined in the Code, at any time within the five-year period preceding the disposition or the Non-U.S. Holder s holding period, whichever period is shorter, and either (1) the common stock has ceased to be traded on an established securities market prior to the beginning of the calendar year in which the sale or disposition occurs; or (2) the Non-U.S. Holder held more than five percent of Concord s outstanding common stock at some point during the five-year period described above.

Concord does not believe that it is, and does not anticipate becoming, a U.S. real property holding corporation.

Conversion into Common Stock

A Non-U.S. Holder s conversion of a note into common stock will not be a taxable event. However, to the extent that a Non-U.S. Holder receives cash in lieu of a fractional share upon conversion, any gain upon the receipt of cash would be subject to the rules described above regarding the sale or exchange of common stock.

Dividends

Dividends (including deemed dividends on the notes described above under Tax Consequences to U.S. Holders Constructive Dividends) paid to a Non-U.S. Holder of common stock generally will be subject to withholding tax at a 30% rate or a reduced rate specified by an applicable income tax treaty. In order to obtain a reduced rate of withholding, a Non-U.S. Holder will be required to provide an IRS Form W-8BEN certifying its entitlement to benefits under a treaty.

The withholding tax does not apply to dividends paid to a Non-U.S. Holder who provides a Form W-8ECI, certifying that the dividends are effectively connected with the Non-U.S. Holder s conduct of a trade or business within the United States. Instead, the effectively connected dividends will be subject to regular U.S. federal income tax as if the Non-U.S. Holder were a U.S. Holder. A non-U.S. corporation receiving effectively connected dividends may also be subject to an additional branch profits tax imposed at a rate of 30% (or a lower treaty rate).

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Information returns will be filed with the IRS in connection with payments on the notes and dividends on the common stock. Unless the Non-U.S. Holder complies with certification procedures to establish that it is not a U.S. person, information returns may be filed with the IRS in connection with the proceeds from a sale or other disposition of the notes and common stock and the Non-U.S.

Table of Contents

Holder may be subject to U.S. backup withholding tax on payments on the notes or on dividends or the proceeds from a sale or other disposition of the notes or common stock. The certification procedures required to claim the exemption from withholding tax on interest described above will satisfy the certification requirements necessary to avoid the backup withholding tax as well. The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to a Non-U.S. Holder will be allowed as a credit against the Non-U.S. Holder s U.S. federal income tax liability and may entitle the Non-U.S. Holder to a refund, provided that the required information is timely furnished to the IRS.

CERTAIN ERISA CONSIDERATIONS

Certain ERISA Considerations

The following is a summary of certain considerations associated with the purchase, ownership and disposition of the notes and common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes by employee benefit plans that are subject to Title I of the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (ERISA); plans, individual retirement accounts and other arrangements that are subject to Section 4975 of the Code or provisions under United States federal, state, local, non-U.S. or other laws or regulations that are similar to such provisions of the Code or ERISA (collectively, similar laws); and entities whose underlying assets are considered to include plan assets of such plans, accounts and other arrangements (each, a plan).

The following discussion is general in nature and is not intended to be all-inclusive. Due to the complexity of these rules and the penalties that may be imposed upon persons involved in non-exempt prohibited transactions, it is particularly important that fiduciaries or other persons considering purchasing notes or shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes on behalf of, or with the assets of, any plan, consult with their counsel to determine whether such plan is subject to Title I of ERISA, Section 4975 of the Code and/or any similar laws.

General Fiduciary Matters

ERISA and the Code impose certain duties on persons who are fiduciaries of a plan subject to Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code (an ERISA plan) and prohibit certain transactions involving the assets of an ERISA plan and its fiduciaries or other interested parties. Under ERISA and the Code, any person who exercises any discretionary authority or control over the administration of such an ERISA plan or the management or disposition of the assets of such an ERISA plan, or who renders investment advice for a fee or other compensation to such an ERISA plan, is generally considered to be a fiduciary of the ERISA plan.

In considering the purchase of notes and common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes to be held as the assets of any plan, a fiduciary should determine whether the investment in the notes is in accordance with the documents and instruments governing the plan and the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code and/or any similar law relating to a fiduciary s duties to the plan including, without limitation, the prudence, diversification, delegation of control and prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA, the Code and any other applicable similar laws.

Prohibited Transaction Issues

Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code prohibit ERISA plans from engaging in specified transactions involving plan assets with persons or entities who are parties in interest, within the meaning of ERISA, or disqualified persons, within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Code, unless an exemption is available. A party in interest or disqualified person that engaged in a non-exempt prohibited transaction may be subject to excise taxes and other penalties and liabilities under ERISA and the Code. In addition, the fiduciary of the ERISA plan that engaged in a non-exempt prohibited transaction may be subject to penalties and liabilities under ERISA and the Code.

Whether or not any of our underlying assets are deemed to be plan assets, as described below, the purchase and holding of the notes (or common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes) by an ERISA plan with respect to which we or the initial purchasers, as applicable, are considered a party in interest or a disqualified person may constitute or result in a direct or indirect prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA and/or Section 4975 of the Code, unless the notes (or common stock

-59-

Table of Contents

issuable upon conversion of the notes) are acquired and held in accordance with an applicable statutory, class or individual prohibited transaction exemption. In this regard, the U.S. Department of Labor (the DOL) has issued prohibited transaction class exemptions, or PTCEs, that may apply to the purchase and holding of the notes. These class exemptions include, without limitation, PTCE 91-38 regarding bank collective investment funds, PTCE 90-1 regarding insurance company pooled separate accounts, PTCE 84-14 regarding certain transactions determined by independent qualified professional asset managers, PTCE 95-60 regarding life insurance company general accounts and PTCE 96-23 regarding transactions determined by in-house asset managers. We cannot ensure that all of the conditions of any such exemptions will be satisfied.

Plan Asset Issues

ERISA and the Code do not define plan assets. However, regulations (the plan asset regulations) promulgated under ERISA by the DOL generally provide that when an ERISA plan acquires an equity interest in an entity that is neither a publicly-offered security nor a security issued by an investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the Investment Company Act), the ERISA plan s assets include both the equity interest and an undivided interest in each of the underlying assets of the entity unless it is established either that equity participation in the entity by benefit plan investors is not significant or that the entity is an operating company, in each case as defined in the plan asset regulations. Although there is little pertinent authority, it is anticipated that the notes will not constitute an equity interest in Concord. However, the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes will constitute an equity interest in Concord.

It is not anticipated that (i) we will be an investment company registered under the Investment Company Act or (ii) we will monitor whether investment in the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes by benefit plan investors will be significant for purposes of the plan asset regulations. It is anticipated that we will qualify as an operating company within the meaning of the plan asset regulations, although no assurances can be given in this regard.

Plan Asset Consequences

If our assets were deemed to be plan assets under ERISA, this would result, among other things, in (i) the application of the prudence and other fiduciary responsibility standards of ERISA to investments made by us, which could materially affect our operations, (ii) potential liability of persons having investment discretion over the plan assets provided to us should our use or investment of such assets not conform to ERISA s prudence and fiduciary standards and (iii) the possibility that certain transactions in which we might engage would constitute prohibited transactions under ERISA and the Code.

SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS

We originally issued the notes in a private placement to Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. The notes were resold by the initial purchaser to qualified institutional buyers within the meaning of Rule 144A under the Securities Act in transactions exempt from registration under the Securities Act. The notes and the shares of common stock issuable upon the conversion of the notes that may be offered pursuant to this prospectus will be offered by the selling securityholders, which includes their transferees, distributees, pledgees or donees or their successors. The following table sets forth certain information concerning the principal amount of notes beneficially owned by each selling securityholder and the number of conversion shares that may be offered from time to time pursuant to this prospectus.

The number of conversion shares shown in the table below assumes conversion of the full amount of notes held by such holder at the initial conversion rate of 37.2148 shares per \$1,000 principal amount at maturity of notes. This conversion rate is subject to certain adjustments. Accordingly, the number of shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes may increase or decrease from time to time. Under the terms of the indenture, fractional shares will not be issued upon conversion of the notes. Cash will be paid instead of fractional shares, if any. As of July 16, 2004, we had 18,301,978 shares of common stock outstanding.

	Principal amount at maturity of notes	Percentage of	Number of conversion
	beneficially owned	notes	shares that may be
Name	that may be sold	outstanding	sold
Alexandra Global Master Fund, Ltd.			
(1)	\$18,000,000	20.87%	669866
Fidelity Convertible Securities Fund	¢ 0.050.000	10.00%	222072
(2) Fore Convertible Master Fund, Ltd.	\$ 8,950,000	10.38%	333072
(3)	\$ 6,106,000	7.08%	227233
KBC Financial Products USA Inc.	φ 0,100,000	7.00 //	221233
(4)	\$ 6,090,000	7.06%	226638
DKR SoundShore Oasis Holding			
Fund Ltd. (5)	\$ 4,000,000	4.64%	148859
S.A.C. Capital Associates, LLC (6)	\$ 3,000,000	3.48%	111644
CNH CA Master Account, L.P. (7)	\$ 2,750,000	3.19%	102340
Man Mac I Limited (8)	\$ 2,387,000	2.77%	88831
Fidelity Strategic Dividend &	* • • • • • • • •		
Income Fund (2)	\$ 2,180,000	2.53%	81128
Grace Convertible Arbitrage Fund,	\$ 2,000,000	2.32%	74429
Ltd. (9) Credit Suisse First Boston Europe	\$ 2,000,000	2.32%	74429
Ltd. (10)	\$ 2,000,000	2.32%	74429
Whitebox Diversified Convertible	\$ 2,000,000	2.5270	71129
Arbitrage Partners L.P. (11)	\$ 1,500,000	1.74%	55822
Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. (12)	\$ 1,430,000	1.66%	53217
DKR SoundShore Strategic Holding			
Fund Ltd. (13)	\$ 1,000,000	1.16%	37214
Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc. (14)	\$ 1,000,000	1.16%	37214
Fore Credit Master Fund, Ltd. (15)	\$ 1,000,000	1.16%	37214
Tribeca Investments, Ltd. (16)	\$ 1,000,000	1.16%	37214

Xavex Convertible Arbitrage 9				
Fund (1)	\$	1,000,000	1.16%	37214
Guggenheim Portfolio Company				
VIII (Cayman) Ltd. (17)	\$	958,000	1.11%	35651
Fore Plan Asset Fund Ltd. (18)	\$	549,000	*	20430
General Motors Employees Global				
Group Pension Trust (19)	\$	325,000	*	12094
OCM High Income Convertible				
Fund II Limited Partnership (19)	\$	250,000	*	9303
RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. (19)	\$	215,000	*	8001
Delta Air Lines Master Trust (19)	\$	205,000	*	7629
OCM High Income Convertible				
Fund Limited Partnership (19)	\$	180,000	*	6698
The Long Term Investment Trust				
(19)	\$	145,000	*	5396
Richard King Mellon Foundation				
(19)	\$	85,000	*	3163
Ace Tempest Reinsurance Ltd. (19)	\$	80,000	*	2977
Tripar Partnership (19)	\$	80,000	*	2977
San Diego County Employee s				
Retirement Association (19)	\$	60,000	*	2232
General Motors Foundation, Inc.				
(19)	\$	35,000	*	1302
OCM Global Convertible Securities				
Fund (19)	\$	35,000	*	1302
Any other holder of notes or future				
transferee from any such holder (20)	\$1	17,655,000	20.47%	657027
Footnotes:				

* Less than 1%

- (1) Alexandra Investment Management, LLC (Alexandra) serves as investment advisor to the selling securityholder and shares investment power over the notes and the conversion shares. Messrs. Mikhail A. Filimonov (Filimonov) and Dimitri Sogoloff (Sogoloff) are the managing members of Alexandra and share investment power over the notes and the conversion shares. Each of Alexandra, Filimonov and Sogoloff disclaim beneficial ownership of such notes and conversion shares.
- (2) Fidelity Management & Research Company (FMR) is an affiliate of a broker-dealer and is a registered investment advisor. FMR provides advisory services to the selling securityholder. The notes and the conversion shares were purchased in the ordinary course of business and, at the time of the purchase of the securities to be resold, the selling securityholder did not have any agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the notes or conversion shares. FMR shares investment power over the notes and the conversion shares held by the selling securityholder with Mr. Edward C. Johnson 3rd.
- (3) Fore Convertible Star Trust and David Egglishaw share investment power over the notes and the conversion shares.
- (4) The selling securityholder is a broker-dealer. The notes and the conversion shares were not received as compensation for investment banking services. Mr. Luke Edwards, managing director of the selling securityholder, exercises voting and investment control over the notes and the conversion shares.
- (5)

DKR Capital Partners L.P. (DKR LP) is a registered investment advisor and acts as general partner of DKR Oasis Management Company L.P. (DKR Oasis) who in turn acts as investment advisor to the selling securityholder. DKR LP and DKR Oasis share investment power over the notes and the conversion shares with Mr. Seth Fischer (Fischer), a member of DKR Oasis, with respect to the notes and the conversion shares held by the selling securityholder. Each of DKR LP, DKR Management and Fischer disclaim beneficial ownership of such notes and conversion shares.

- (6) S.A.C. Capital Advisors, LLC (SAC Capital Advisors) and S.A.C. Capital Management, LLC (SAC Capital Management) share investment power over the notes and the conversion shares. Mr. Stephen A. Cohen (Cohen) controls SAC Capital Advisors and SAC Capital Management and shares investment power over the notes and the conversion shares. Each of SAC Capital Advisors, SAC Capital Management and Cohen disclaim beneficial ownership of such notes and conversion shares.
- (7) CNH Partners, LLC (CNH Partners) serves as investment manager of the selling securityholder and shares investment power over the notes and the conversion shares. Messrs. Robert Krail, Mark Mitchell and Todd Pulvino are the principals of CNH Partners and share investment power over the notes and the conversion shares.
- (8) Man-Diversified Fund II Ltd. (Man-Diversified) serves is the controlling shareholder of the selling securityholder. Albany Management Company Limited (Albany) and Man Holdings Limited (Man Holdings), a subsidiary of Man plc, a publicly traded company, are the shareholders of Man-Diversified. The registered shareholder of Albany is Argonaut Limited (Argonaut) which is controlled by Mr. Michael Collins (Collins). Each of Man-Diversified, Albany, Man Holdings, Argonaut and Mr. Collins share investment power over the notes and the conversion shares.
- (9) The selling securityholder is an affiliate of a broker-dealer. The notes and the conversion shares were purchased in the ordinary course of business and, at the time of the purchase of the securities to be resold, the selling securityholder did not have any agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the notes or conversion shares. Messrs. Bradford Whitmore and Michael Brailn share voting and investment power over the notes and the conversion shares.
- (10) The selling securityholder is a broker-dealer. The notes and the conversion shares were not received as compensation for investment banking services. Mr. Gerry Murtagh exercises voting and investment control over the notes and the conversion shares.
- (11) Whitebox Diversified Convertible Arbitrage Advisors, LLC (Whitebox Advisors) serves as general partner of the selling securityholder and shares investment power over the notes and the conversion shares. Mr. Andrew Redleaf is the managing member of Whitebox Advisors and shares investment power over the notes and the conversion shares.
- (12) The selling securityholder is a broker-dealer. The selling securityholder served as lead manager with respect to the offering of the notes. The notes and the conversion shares may therefore be deemed to be received as compensation for investment banking services. Mr. Michael Lloyd exercises voting and investment control over the notes and the conversion shares.
- (13) DKR Capital Partners L.P. (DKR LP) is a registered investment advisor and acts as investment advisor to the selling securityholder. DKR LP and DKR Oasis share investment power over the notes and the conversion shares with Mr. Seth Fischer (Fischer). Each of DKR LP and Fischer disclaim beneficial ownership of such notes and conversion shares.
- (14) The selling securityholder is a broker-dealer. The notes and the conversion shares were not received as

compensation for investment banking services. Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc. is a publicly traded company and as such, no individual person has investment power over the notes and the conversion shares.

- (15) Fore Credit Master Star Trust Fund and David Egglishaw share investment power over the notes and the conversion shares.
- (16) Steve Qian, Managing Director of the selling securityholder, exercises voting and investment control over the notes and the conversion shares.
- (17) Guggenheim Advisors, LLC (Guggenheim Advisors) serves as the controlling shareholder of the selling securityholder. Guggenheim Advisors and Messrs. Loren Katzovitz, Patrick Hughes and Kevin Felix share investment power over the notes and the conversion shares.
- (18) Fore Plan Asset Star Trust Fund and David Egglishaw share investment power over the notes and the conversion shares.
- (19) Oaktree Capital Management, LLC (Oaktree) is an affiliate of a broker-dealer and acts as investment manager to the selling securityholder. The notes and the conversion shares were purchased in the ordinary course of business and, at the time of the purchase of the securities to be resold, the selling securityholder did not have any agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the notes or conversion shares. Oaktree shares investment power over the notes and the conversion shares with Mr. Andrew Watts (Watts), a managing director of Oaktree, with respect to the notes and the conversion shares held by the selling securityholder. Each of Oaktree and Watts disclaim beneficial ownership of such notes and conversion shares.
- (20) This prospectus may be used initially only by the selling securityholders identified above. Additional selling securityholders will be permitted to use this prospectus after information concerning such securityholders is set forth in prospectus supplements that may be filed from time to time. The Company will file a post-effective amendment to name any previously unidentified securityholders upon receipt of a properly completed selling securityholder questionnaire and such other materials as the Company may reasonably request.

-61-

Table of Contents

The preceding table has been prepared based upon the information furnished to us by the selling securityholders named above. None of the selling securityholders has had any position, office or other material relationship with us or our affiliates within the past three years.

The selling securityholders identified above may have sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of some or all of their notes since the date on which the information in the preceding table is presented in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Information concerning the selling securityholders may change from time to time and, if necessary, we will supplement this prospectus accordingly. We cannot give an estimate as to the amount of the notes or conversion shares that will be held by the selling securityholders upon the termination of this offering because the selling securityholders may offer some or all of their notes or conversion shares pursuant to the offering contemplated by this prospectus. See Plan of Distribution.

-62-

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

The selling securityholders and their successors, which includes their transferees, distributees, pledgees or donees or their successors, may sell the notes and the underlying common stock directly to purchasers or through underwriters, broker-dealers or agents. Underwriters, broker-dealers or agents may receive compensation in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions from the selling securityholders or the purchasers. These discounts, concessions or commissions may be in excess of those customary in the types of transactions involved.

The notes and the underlying common stock may be sold in one or more transactions at fixed prices:

at prevailing market prices at the time of sale;

at prices related to such prevailing market prices;

at varying prices determined at the time of sale; or

at negotiated prices.

Such sales may be effected in transactions in the following manner (which may involve crosses or block transactions):

on any national securities exchange or quotation service on which the notes or the common stock may be listed or quoted at the time of sale;

in the over-the-counter market;

in transactions otherwise than on such exchanges or services or in the over-the-counter market;

through the writing of options, whether such options are listed on an options exchange or otherwise; or

through the settlement of short sales.

Selling securityholders may enter into hedging transactions with broker-dealers or other financial institutions which may in turn engage in short sales of the notes or the underlying common stock and deliver these securities to close out such short positions, or loan or pledge the notes or the common stock into which the notes are convertible to broker-dealers that in turn may sell these securities.

From time to time, one or more of the selling securityholders may distribute, devise, gift, pledge, hypothecate or grant a security interest in some or all of the securities owned by them. Any such distributees, devisees or donees will be deemed to be selling securityholders. Any such pledgees, secured parties or persons to whom the securities have been hypothecated will, upon foreclosure in the event of default, be deemed to be selling securityholders.

The aggregate proceeds to the selling securityholders from the sale of the notes or underlying common stock will be the purchase price of the notes or common stock less any discounts and commissions. A selling securityholder reserves the right to accept and, together with their agents, to reject, any proposed purchase of notes or common stock to be made directly or through agents. We will not receive any of the proceeds from this offering.

Table of Contents

Our underlying common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market. We do not intend to list the notes for trading on any national securities exchange or on the Nasdaq National Market. We cannot guarantee that any trading market will develop for the notes.

The notes and underlying common stock may be sold in some states only through registered or licensed brokers or dealers. The selling securityholders and any underwriters, broker-dealers or agents that participate in the sale of the notes and common stock into which the notes are convertible may be underwriters within the meaning of Section 2(11) of the Securities Act. Those selling securityholders listed as broker-dealers in the section of this prospectus titled SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS, other than those broker-dealers who received the notes as compensation, are deemed to be underwriters with respect to the notes and common stock into which the notes are convertible. Any discounts, commissions, concessions or profit they earn on any resale of the shares may be underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act. Selling securityholders who are underwriters within the meaning of Section 2(11) of the Securities Act will be subject to the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act. The selling securityholders have acknowledged that they understand their obligations to comply with the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act and the rules thereunder relating to stock manipulation, particularly Regulation M, and have agreed that they will not engage in any transaction in violation of such provisions.

In addition, any securities covered by this prospectus which qualify for sale pursuant to Rule 144 or Rule 144A of the Securities Act may be sold under Rule 144 or Rule 144A rather than pursuant to this prospectus. A selling securityholder may not sell any notes or common stock described herein and may not transfer, devise or gift such securities by other means not described in this prospectus.

If required, the specific notes or common stock to be sold, the names of the selling securityholders, the respective purchase prices and public offering prices, the names of any agent, dealer or underwriter, and any applicable commissions or discounts with respect to a particular offer will be set forth in an accompanying prospectus supplement or, if appropriate, a post-effective amendment to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part.

Pursuant to the registration rights agreement filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, we and the selling securityholders will be indemnified by each other against certain liabilities, including certain liabilities under the Securities Act or will be entitled to contribution in connection with these liabilities.

We have agreed to pay substantially all of the expenses incidental to the registration, offering and sale of the notes and underlying common stock to the public other than applicable transfer taxes and commissions, fees and discounts of underwriters, brokers, dealers and agents.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Leases

The Company leases its facilities and certain equipment under operating lease agreements expiring through July 2009. The Company s remaining lease commitments for all leased facilities and equipment with an initial or remaining term of at least one year as of June 30, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):

2004	\$2,101
2005	3,703
2006	2,167
2007	775
2008	149
Total	8,897

Rent expense was \$2.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004. Rent expense was \$4.7 million, \$4.5 million and \$4.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Certain operating

leases are subject to cost escalations with the lease expense being recorded on a straight-line basis and the difference being reflected as an accrued liability. As of June 30, 2004, December 31, 2003 and 2002, this deferred rent liability was \$0.93 million, \$1.03 million and \$1.25 million, respectively.

(b) Royalties

The Company has entered into several software license agreements that provide the Company with exclusive worldwide licenses to distribute or utilize certain patented computer software. The Company is required to pay royalties on all related sales. Under one software license agreement, as amended, the Company, was obligated to make minimum quarterly royalty payments from 2000 through 2002. The minimum payments were noncancelable and nonrefundable, but any minimum payments in excess of amounts due for actual license sales in any quarter may be used as a credit against future royalty fees in excess of the specified minimum payments. Under another software license agreement, the Company is obligated to make certain minimum royalty payments from 2002 through 2004. This obligation is secured by a letter of credit arrangement with the royalty provider. Royalty expense under royalty agreements was approximately \$0.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004. Royalty expense under royalty agreements was approximately \$1.40 million, \$0.68 million and \$0.44 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

(c) Indemnifications

As permitted under Massachusetts law, the Company has agreements whereby it indemnifies its officers and directors for certain events or occurrences while the officer or director is, or was serving, at the Company 's request in such capacity. The term of the indemnification period is for the officer or director's lifetime. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited; however, the Company has a Director and Officer insurance policy pursuant to which the company may recover all or a portion of amounts it pays to directors or officers under their indemnification agreements. As a result of its insurance policy coverage, the Company believes the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal.

The Company warrants that its software products will perform in all material respects in accordance with its standard published specifications in effect at the time of delivery of the licensed products to the customer for a period of 90 days. Additionally, the Company warrants that its maintenance services will be performed consistent with its maintenance policy in effect at the time those services are delivered. The Company believes its maintenance policy is consistent with generally accepted industry standards. If necessary, the Company would provide for the estimated cost of product and service warranties based on specific warranty claims and claim history; however, the Company has never incurred significant expense under product or services warranties. As a result, the Company believes the estimated liability of these warranties is minimal.

The Company enters into standard indemnification agreements in the ordinary course of its business. Pursuant to these agreements, the Company indemnifies, holds harmless, and agrees to reimburse the indemnified party for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party, generally its business partners or customers, in connection with any patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret or other intellectual property infringement claim by any third party with respect to its products. The term of these indemnification agreements is generally perpetual. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is often capped at a dollar figure. The Company has never incurred costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification agreements. As a result, the Company believes the estimated fair value of these agreements is minimal.

When, as part of an acquisition, Concord acquires all of the stock or all or a portion of the assets and/or liabilities of a company, it may assume liability for certain events or occurrences that took place prior to the date of acquisition. The maximum potential amount of future payments it could be required to make for such obligations is

undeterminable at this time. Concord has no liabilities recorded for these exposures as of June 30, 2003.

(d) Claims

The Company has received a letter from LMS Technology Distributions SDN BHD (LMS) of Malaysia that demands that the Company reimburse LMS for approximately \$4.65 million in alleged losses arising out of the Company s purported wrongful termination of a Concord Authorized Reseller Agreement (the CAR Agreement) with LMS. The Company disputes that the CAR Agreement was wrongfully terminated or that LMS is owed any of the amounts claimed, and the Company intends to defend vigorously against the demand. It is not possible to predict or determine the outcome of these demands or to provide ranges of losses that may arise, if any.

(e) Legal Proceedings

From time to time, the Company may be exposed to litigation relating to its products and operations. The Company is not engaged in any legal proceedings that are expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on the Company s financial conditions or results of operations.

LEGAL MATTERS

The legality of the notes offered hereby and of the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion thereof will be passed upon for us by Testa, Hurwitz & Thibeault, LLP, Boston, Massachusetts.

-64-

Table of Contents

EXPERTS

The financial statements as of December 31, 2002 and 2003 and for the years then ended incorporated in this Prospectus by reference to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We are subject to the information requirements of the Exchange Act. In accordance with the Exchange Act, we file annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. We make available, free of charge, through our website (www.concord.com), Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished as soon as reasonably practicable after we have filed or furnished those reports with the SEC. The information posted on our website is not incorporated into this prospectus. The public can also obtain access to such reports at the SEC s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549, by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 or by accessing the SEC s website, which is www.sec.gov.

You should rely only upon the information provided in this prospectus or incorporated herein by reference. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with different information. You should not assume that the information contained in this prospectus, including any information incorporated herein by reference, is accurate as of any other date other than that set forth on the front cover of this prospectus.

The SEC allows Concord to incorporate by reference the information we file with them, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to other documents previously filed with the SEC, including Concord s annual, current and quarterly reports. The information incorporated herein by reference is considered to be part of this document, except to the extent such information is modified or superseded by information provided herein. Any information that we file later with the SEC, specifically those documents filed pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act will be automatically incorporated by reference and will automatically update and supersede the information in this Prospectus.

The following documents have been filed by Concord with the SEC (File No. 0-23067) and are hereby incorporated by reference:

- 1. Concord s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed on March 15, 2004 and related exhibits;
- 2. Concord s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2004, filed on May 7, 2004 and related exhibits; and

-65-

Table of Contents

3. Concord s Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on April 13, 2004 and May 4, 2004 and related exhibits. You may request a copy of all of the information incorporated by reference herein, at no cost, by writing or telephoning our Chief Financial Officer at the following address:

Concord Communications, Inc. 600 Nickerson Road Marlboro, MA 01752 (508) 460-4646

This prospectus is part of a registration statement we filed with the SEC. You should rely only on the information or representations provided in this prospectus. We have authorized no one to provide you with different information. We are not making an offer of these securities in any state where the offer is not permitted. You should not assume that the information in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front of the document.

-66-

Table of Contents

\$86,250,000

CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

3.0% CONVERTIBLE SENIOR NOTES DUE 2023